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Wednesday, August 4, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:41 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Christine Long, and I am the Registrar at the Ontario Energy Board.  On a go-forward basis the Ontario Energy Board has decided that we will be commencing oral hearings with a land acknowledgment, and I am pleased to be here today do that.
Land Acknowledgement


The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnabeg, the Chippewa, Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat people.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis people.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.

We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land, and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.

I would now like to turn the proceeding over to presiding member Allison Duff.  Commissioner Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Ms. Long.  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Allison Duff, and I will be presiding over this proceeding.  With me on the Panel are my fellow Commissioners, Mr. Pankaj Sardana and Mr. Michael Janigan.  

The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today on a matter of an application filed by Ontario Power Generation Inc.  The application was filed with the OEB on December 31st, 2020 under section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and this application seeks approval for changes in payment amounts for the output of its nuclear generating facilities in each of the five years beginning January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31st, 2026.  During this five-year period OPG has also requested approval to maintain with no change the base payment amount in charges for its output of its regulated hydroelectric generating facilities at the payment amount in effect at December 31st, 2021.

OPG advised the OEB on July the 16th that parties had come to a partial settlement regarding the issues in the proceeding.  A comprehensive settlement was filed and most issues were settled in full.  Based on the approved issues list, four issues were partially settled and two issues were not settled, so today is the start of a three-day oral hearing.  We will start with panel questions regarding that settlement proposal, have a short break, and then intervenors and OEB Staff will have an opportunity to cross-examine OPG's witnesses on the unsettled issues.  I trust everyone has the latest hearing schedule that was emailed last night at 5:50 p.m.

At this juncture I will ask OEB counsel, Mr. Michael Millar, to run through some of the logistics of today's hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Duff.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for OEB staff.  In terms of logistics, many of you have been through this before, but just as a reminder, this event is being transcribed.  Therefore, please speak clearly into the microphone and avoid speaking when someone else is already talking, because it will not be possible for the court reporter to hear either party.  If you need to address the Panel, please turn on your camera.  That will give an indication that you wish to address the Panel.  But if you think you haven't been noticed, please interject at a convenient spot.

I would, however, ask that anyone who interjects, please start by saying your name and the party that you represent.  This will assist the court reporter in accurately transcribing today's hearing.

The hearing is being live audiostreamed on the OEB's website.  It will also be recorded in order to assist with transcription services, but that recording will be deleted after 14 days.  And this hearing is also livecast but not recorded on the OEB's YouTube channel.

Zoom allows you to join this event by landline or cell phone.  Therefore, please make sure you write down the Zoom phone numbers, which are in the invitation that you will have already received for today's event.  If you experience any difficulties, we will try and resolve those as quickly as we can.  If we are unable to resolve the issue, we may have to turn to the next party on the schedule and reschedule the affected party until later in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point during the day to present their questions.

And finally, in case you drop off the call or you're unable to rejoin the event, please inform Ms. Lillian Ing at lillian.ing@oeb.ca.  And indeed, all of you will have received numerous e-mails from Ms. Ing over the previous week, so you won't have any difficulty finding her.

I will now pass it back to Ms. Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

I'll now take appearances.  I'll start with OPG first and then go to OEB staff.
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Charles Keizer, legal counsel to Ontario Power Generation.  Joining me today will be Ms. Aimee Collier, assistant general counsel, and that's for OPG, and also Ms. Evelyn Wong, Director, Regulatory Affairs.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning again, Ms. Duff.  Michael Millar, counsel for OEB staff.  I'm joined today by my co-counsel, Mr. Ian Richler, and you may also hear from a couple of Board staff members, Mr. Laurie Gluck and possibly Mr. David Martinello.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  I'll now call on each intervenor.  Now, I'm going to use the participant list on Zoom, so we'll see how this goes.  And my list happens to be alphabetical by first name.

I see Mr. Colin Anderson for AMPCO?

MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning, Commissioners, yes, Colin Anderson with AMPCO, and with me today is also Shelley Grice from AMPCO.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Fraser from SUP?

MR. FRASER:  Good morning.  It's Colin Fraser, representing the Society of United Professionals, and also [audio dropout] will be around today too.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Fraser.  Ms. DeJulio from OAPPA?

MS. De JULIO:  Good morning.  This is Gia DeJulio.  I'm with Jupiter Energy Advisors, here on behalf of the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators, and the short form for that is OAPPA.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  I mispronounced it.  Going down the list, Mark Garner; from VECC, I assume?

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Mark Garner, and I'm with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro for CCC?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I'm not going to be participating today.  However, I'm assisting with a joint cross-examination of panel 2 on behalf of AMPCO and CCC.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mike McLeod from the QMA?

MR. McLEOD:  Good morning, Commissioners.  My name is Michael McLeod.  I'm with the Quinte Manufacturers Association.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Raeya Jackiw from the OSEA?

MS. JACKIW:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Raeya Jackiw, counsel for the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Randy Aiken from LPMA?

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Randy Aiken on behalf of the London Property Management Association.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stevenson from PWU?

MR. STEVENSON:  Good morning.  My name is Richard Stevenson.  I'm counsel for the PWU.  My colleague Mr. Rosenbluth will be joining us later.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Scott Pollock from CME?

MR. POLLOCK:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Scott Pollock on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  I did my best to go down the list of -- oh, I think I missed Jay Shepherd from SEC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  With me today is Fred Zhang, a lawyer with our firm, and from time to time Mark Rubenstein will also be [audio dropout] Sorry, and from time to time Mark Rubenstein may also [audio dropout]


MS. DUFF:  Yes, I heard that Mark Rubenstein would be also representing SEC.  Mr. Ladanyi, thank you for putting your camera on and identifying yourself.  Perhaps you could make an appearance?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, my name is Tom Ladanyi.  I'm consultant representing Energy Probe.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  If there's anyone that I missed, would you please put your camera on and self-identify?  That's great.  Thank you.
Preliminary Matters:


There's -- I'm going to ask people if there's any preliminary matters I should be aware of, but there is one issue that the Panel would like to address, and that's regarding the -- there is a recent confidentiality request that OPG has filed, and it was filed on July the 23rd, 2021.  And the request seeks confidential treatment of certain undertaking responses, interrogatories, and some sections of the technical conference transcripts.  It was not possible for the OEB to address this request before the oral hearing.

So what we are proposing to do is just to pull or ask intervenors at the end of the oral hearing -- so that would be right now, Friday, August 6 -- just if they could indicate if they had any intention to file a submission objecting to OPG's confidentiality request.  And based on that feedback, the Panel would then determine whether it's necessary to set dates for written objections and then allow OPG the opportunity to respond.  And this is regarding that confidentiality request.  If there are no intentions to object to the request, the Panel would issue its decision on the request in due course after the oral hearing.

As an interim measure, we will treat this information in question as confidential.  As the hearing schedule indicates, there is a potential for an in camera session for panel 2A, and that's yet to be determined, and we will respond to intervenors' needs as they arise.  As technical arrangements have to be made when there is an in camera session, if there is going to be one, it will be our attempt to try to coordinate and have all questions needed to be in camera all at the same time.

That was the one matter the Panel wanted to raise.  Are there other preliminary matters that should be drawn to our attention?

MR. KEIZER:  No preliminary matters from OPG.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Fair enough.  We will proceed with the hearing schedule, and that will be on the panel has a few questions regarding the settlement proposal that was filed on July 16th.

For assistance, if that settlement proposal can be brought up on the screen, and we will refer to specific pains as we go through; that would be helpful. Mr. Sardana, did you want to start with the questioning?

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you Ms. Duff.  If we could turn to page 18 of 51 -- it says 18 of 51, but I imagine it's 18 of 151.  On the bottom half or the bottom part of that table under earnings sharing mechanism, we note that the parties have agreed to an earnings sharing mechanism based on the combined performance of the combined performance of the nuclear and regulated hydroelectric business are an symmetrical basis, with 100 basis points dead band to the OEB-approved weight and 50-50 sharing above the dead band, and the ESM is to be assessed on a cumulative basis from 2022 to 2026.

I have one question and a request.  To the question, could you please explain the first, I guess the indented bullet point in the table where the sentence starts with, "The OEB approved ROE rate for the five-year period will be the rate base-weighted average of the OEB approved ROE rate", and the answer to that question will lead to my request.

The request really is if OPG could undertake to provide the Board with a numerical calculation of the ESM using a proxy -- and perhaps as a proxy we were thinking 2020 and 2019 actual results -- that would be very helpful for us.

Of course, if OPG has a calculation that uses different years or different periods or illustrative numbers, that would be fine as well.  We just want to track the source of the inputs to that calculation.

Hopefully that all makes sense.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Commissioner Sardana.  The first bullet is dealing with the ROE recalling that the hydroelectric payment amounts are actually frozen by virtue of the regulation.  The calculation of the ROE that would be applicable as the approved ROE therefore gets affected, so that the existing approved ROE under why the hydroelectric payment amounts are rooted in EB-2013-0321, and obviously for the nuclear payment amounts, it's going to be contemplated and be part of your decision in this proceeding.

So this was put forward as a mechanism to bring the two together since the ROE is established on a combined basis from an approved and actual perspective, based upon the existing debt to equity ratio of debt has approved by the Board and would be established by virtue of this settlement as well.  So that was the meaning behind the bullet point.

With respect to the undertaking, OPG using -- I'm not sure whether there is another available calculation.  But based on your question using 2019 and 2020 as a proxy to demonstrate how the calculation would be made, the OPG would provide that undertaking.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Keizer.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Sardana, I propose to mark that as an Undertaking.  That would be J1.1, and it is to provide an illustrative example of how the calculation would work.  

And I think Mr. Keizer volunteered to use two historic actual years, but the point was you wanted an illustration how this would work in practice using numbers that either exist or that serve the purpose of the demonstration.

MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Millar. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  OPG TO PROVIDE AN ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE OF HOW THE EARNINGS SHARING MECHANISM CALCULATION WOULD WORK, USING APPROPRIATE PROXY NUMBERS


MS. DUFF:  Just one question, Mr. Keizer.  Are you able to find out how long that would take to provide that answer?  If it's something you think would not be filed before the end of this oral hearing, if you could advise us that would be appreciated.

MR. KEIZER:  I will consult with OPG at appropriate break and respond accordingly.

MS. DUFF:  I appreciate that.  I have a few more questions.  If we can scroll a little bit further on the document to page 19, I have a question regarding the COVID impact credit.  It's further along the page.  Yes.

The question I have really is regarding the last sentence on the page and the disposition period of three years.  Is there any basis for the three years?  Perhaps you can provide insight as to why three years was chosen?  And if the answer is that's what we agreed on and it was no numerical basis or financial reason or cash flow issue, that's really what I'm looking for.

MR. KEIZER:  The three years was chosen because it is the typical period over which amounts are amortized.

MS. DUFF:  Am I allowed to ask was there any consideration of any credit entry into the rate smoothing account?  Was that contemplated?  Am I allowed to venture into that?

I realize the sharing mechanism relates to nuclear and non-nuclear.  But was there any consideration of that disposition?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess when you say should you venture into that, you're in the position of whether you should contemplate the gives and takes that took place within the context of the discussions and negotiations, and that exist within the context of the settlement privilege.

And I see Mr. Shepherd is now on the screen.  So my inclination is not to get into what was contemplated as an alternative or options available.  I think it is the underlying logic as to why the three-year was chosen and it then formed the basis of the settlement.

MS. DUFF:  I won't pursue that any further.  If we can scroll further on to page 25, I do have a question regarding the Clarington campus.  Just further down the page.

Just so that I understand what has changed, the agreement -- I'll state it and you can tell me where I'm wrong -- the Clarington campus, the accounting for it has been removed from the revenue requirement and the amounts would go into this deferral account on the same basis as the asset service fees, so it's the revenue -- same revenue-requirement treatment, but yet the dollars will flow into the DVA.  Have I got that right?

MR. KEIZER:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  And is it the intent -- so that's been the agreement for the next five years.  At the end of the five years, does OPG have any intent or knowledge whether the Clarington campus will be a prescribed asset or not?  I'm just comparing this to the last -- to the Kipling site, for instance.  Just wanting to know, do you expect this to be a prescribed asset or not eventually?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't believe that it would be considered to be, but I'd have to, Madam Chair, check to conclude that -- confirm definitively, but I don't believe that that was contemplated either as part of the discussions or with respect to its treatment on a go-forward basis.

MS. DUFF:  No, that's still helpful, and I realize my question kind of exceeds the five-year span but is, you know, the scope of this proceeding, I just, I wanted to know whether that -- anyway, that's a good question.

And the calculation for this asset service fees, is it clear to all parties exactly if there is enough evidence, if you scroll forward in the settlement agreement, you document every place in the evidence where calculations are made so it's objective.  If I was an intervenor five years from now and we're just closing off this deferral account, it should be clear based on the evidence in this proceeding how that asset service fee was calculated.  Can I have that assurance?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair, I do believe that is the case.

MS. DUFF:  No, I mean, parties should speak up if they didn't think -- it should be objectively determined and everybody understands.  I think the spirit of it is clear as stated in the settlement, that I guess -- what are the exact words?  On the same basis as its existing asset service fee methodology.  That's fair.

My next question is on page 30, first on the Kipling asset sale.  That's perfect.  Thank you very much.  The 23 percent, I didn't go through every evidence record, so the 23 percent, is that supported by the evidentiary record of information that's already in this proceeding?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, it is, Madam Chair.  The 23 percent is actually -- and maybe it should have been footnoted, and I apologize for it not being.  It is set out in Undertaking JT3.12, Table 3 of that undertaking, and it will show there that the use of the building for a period from 2008 to 2021 was on average 23 percent.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  And regarding the, you know, the sale of this asset, this came up in the issues day proceeding where there are some questions regarding whether the sale would have to take place in 2021 or 2022, 2021 being -- preceding the time period at issue in this proceeding.

So when we talk about the sale -- I'm not a real-estate expert by any stretch of the imagination -- how objective will it be when the sale takes place?  There's a sale, there's a closing date, there could be remedial efforts required of the land.  How will it be determined that the Board can rely on it the year that the sale takes place?  Can you -- is there any suggestions or third party --


MR. KEIZER:  I don't -- the point of the sale is the time at which title actually passes from one party to another party, which would have to occur at the time of close, where the deeds are appropriately registered and the sale took place.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Appreciate that.  Just further down the page a little bit on rate smoothing, and I realize this is an issue yet to be discussed, but one aspect -- so with the market renewal program there is going to be a subsequent application during this five-year period at issue.  There will be one more application, and a few issues have been deferred to that application, the market renewal program, the hydro incentive mechanism, and at that time it may an opportunity to dispose of your deferral and variance account balances that have been audited.  Is that true, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  That may be so, yes.

MS. DUFF:  I didn't know the scope of that proceeding, but I'm just wondering, with the rate smoothing that will be decided as part of this proceeding, the idea is, we'll figure out what the quantum is, there will be a decision on the issues, and then there will be a subsequent submission and review process regarding rate smoothing.  And that will be set for five years.

Just wondering, is there any other intervening events that will happen after the payment amount order is issued, which will establish the rate smoothing for five years, whether there is any risk that there will be some, you know, large amounts disposed of in the DVAs or through that market renewal program proceeding that could somehow impact the rate smoothing.  Do you have an opinion on that?  Do you think that the probability is small?  Perhaps you can comment on that.

MR. KEIZER:  So let me just make sure that I understand your question.  In the context of this proceeding the rate smoothing has been -- just so I can repeat it back to you and make sure that I accurately answer your question.  The rate smoothing in this proceeding has been, you know, left open to be dealt with in the context of the settlement of the final order and any submissions parties would make in terms of rate smoothing, and that obviously would then form part of your payment amounts in this proceeding.  There is a subsequent proceeding, which is to deal with the market review -- renewal program, rather, in which the HIM would actually be contemplated.

The settlement agreement does not contemplate at this point that it necessarily implies dealing with the deferral and variance account, so there'll -- obviously applications could be brought, but doesn't contemplate it.  I don't know, and I would have to check with OPG as to whether or not there are any circumstances that would be of such material nature.

But my assumption would be, and the proper order of process would be, that to the extent that there were anything, then the application would have to be brought and the issue about the implication for rate smoothing or the implication of rates would be part of any panel's, OEB panel's, or the OEB's consideration of that application, and the implication by which the accounts would be disposed of, any period over which they would be disposed of, or whether any changes to that and implications to the order in this proceeding would be affected.

So I think you would be in a position to be able to fully contemplate that as part of any future circumstance to the extent that that arose and otherwise couldn't be predicted today.

MS. DUFF:  No.  Thank you.  I appreciate that clarification and take the situation.

If we could scroll forward to page 38.  I do have a question, just one clarification on the settled issues.  Just scroll a little bit further.  Capital projects.  That's perfect right there.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I can -- I mean, I may have spoken in error.  Apparently the settlement agreement does contemplate potential for filing of a D&V.  I just need to have that confirmed to me, and I will, and be able to then advise you of that.  So sorry to interrupt your question.

MS. DUFF:  No.  No, that's great.  What was the acronym you used?  D&V?  What?

MR. KEIZER:  Oh.  Deferral and variance account.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, D -- oh.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I have a question regarding settled issues 7.4 and 7.5, and it's just that there are three issues in this proceeding that all have the words test period in-service additions relating to nuclear, okay?  And I don't think they're really mutually exclusive.  That's -- I just want to make sure I'm clear on what has been settled and what hasn't.

So the 7.4 is nuclear projects excluding Darlington.  7.5 is test service -- test period in-service additions for Darlington.  And then there's 7.6, which is the test period in-service additions for D2O.

Is it incorrect -- I always considered the D2O to be part of the Darlington refurbishment program, so I realize for clarity when we established the issues list they created issue 7.6 for line of sight and we could focus on that significant project, but would it be more accurate for 7.5 to be settled that the in-service additions for Darlington refurbishment program except D2O?  I am not suggesting the issues list be changed.  I'm not suggesting the settlement should change.  I am wanting to make sure it is clear where -- there's only two categories, it appears to me: D2O Darlington and nuclear non-Darlington.  So where does the D2O reside.  If you could clarify that for me.


MR. KEIZER:  In effect, what the settlement does -- you are correct.  There are three buckets in the settlement, the first being the in-service amount for the nuclear projects which have been settled subject to a reduction with respect to the in-service amounts.

There is the in-service additions for the Darlington refurbishment program that relate to units 1, 3 and 4 which have been settled and the in-service amounts associated with that have been agreed to.

And then the last element is the D2O, which is whatever the in-service amount for that would be ultimately determined by you in the issue in this proceeding.  So the basis of the settlement for the Darlington refurbishment project literal relates to units 1, 3 and 4.

MS. DUFF:  And Unit 2, which is already complete?

MR. KEIZER:  Unit 2 is already complete, sorry, yes.  Yes, and that forms part of the opening base amount.

MS. DUFF:  In the 12.8-billion-dollar Darlington refurbishment budget, is the D2O considered part of that?

MR. KEIZER:  My understanding is it is.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you; that was my only question there.  If we can go forward to after page 51 of 51, there is an appendix A and I have a question questions regarding that as regarding the record-keeping.  That is perfect there, thank you.

It's the first sentence I wanted to get a little bit more information on.  Currently, and I'll state my knowledge that when OPG has filings, annual reporting to the OEB, that information is not publicly available on the OEB's website.  So this is something new, that this information would be posted on the website.  I don't think there is any question there.

To the extent there has been an agreement that it shall be posted on the OEB's website -- and perhaps this question is more appropriate for OEB staff -- was there a discussion of how and where this information would be housed?  I can see there is quite a number of items listed here.  This could be quite a big mini site on its own, and I wanted to know if the OEB IT department has been consulted.  Was there any discussion of how this could be available for public access?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, maybe I can assist you.  As you're aware, there is an entire reporting group at the OEB and Mr. Gluck and I have had some discussions with them, albeit high-level.  But our understanding is that certainly there would be some things we would have to iron out, but this shouldn't present any significant challenges.  Exactly how it's presented would be subject to some discussion, but it would likely be a sub page and the reporting page at the OEB site that would be specifically for OPG.  So it would be something like that.

Our understanding is there is no particular technical challenge around that.  But of course exactly what goes on that would still be subject to some discussion.

But the short answer is we have had some at least high-level discussions about this with our internal folks, and it shouldn't pose any significant challenges.

MS. DUFF:  Aside from the challenges, I think there is an opportunity given the number of updates that will happen and the volume of information to organize it properly, so that public access -- yes, we can check the box saying public access, but is it informative, is it helpful, and how is it organized I think is important.

I've been in proceedings where there are subsequent reports that have been required or requested by the panel and they go on the EB number.  So one example would be EB-2020-0290 would just stay open and these documents would be posted.

MR. MILLAR:  Agreed, and that has been a challenge in some previous cases where you find information.  I think the intention here is it should be very clear if you go to our reporting page.  I think the intention is we would create a standalone page for OPG which is clearly marked so you can find it,  and all the information would reside there.

That said, that isn't set up yet.  But we have had those discussions and we would work with OPG and the parties to make sure it ends up in a place that easily accessible to anyone who wants to see it.

MS. DUFF:  There is an opportunity to do something new here.  Thank you those were my questions regarding the settlement.

At this time, the panel will take a short break.  It is 10:16.  We did not take our 90 minutes, and that is a good thing.  I think we can reduce the time of the break to 15 minutes as well.

Therefore, Mr. Keizer, is there any problem or concern of getting your small modular reactor panel up and available for a start of 10:30?

MR. KEIZER:  No, I don't believe there is.  We should be available.

MS. DUFF:  That's great news.  Okay.  We'll take a break and reconvene at 10:30.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 10:18 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:37 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry for that delay.  There was some confusion regarding leaving the breakout room and making sure that we were doing that at the right time.  So sorry for that, Mr. Keizer, to keep you waiting.  Are you ready to proceed with your witness panel and introduce us for the small modular reactors?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  So if I can ask Ms. Brenda MacDonald and Ms. Lubna Ladak to put their cameras on.

We're still waiting for Ms. Ladak.

Sorry for the delay, Madam Chair.  We thought we were ready.

MS. DUFF:  Maybe she's caught in traffic.

MR. KEIZER:  One can only hope.  I'm just going to go on mute and communicate with someone at OPG to track her down.

MS. LADAK:  Can you hear me?  Apologies for that delay.

MS. DUFF:  No need to apologize.

MR. KEIZER:  So perhaps I can ask that the panel be affirmed.

MR. SARDANA:  Yes, absolutely.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 1, SMALL MODULAR REACTORS

Lubna Ladak, 

Brenda MacDonald; Affirmed

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.
Direct Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  I'm sorry, I just have a few brief questions in direct, starting with you, Ms. MacDonald.  You are vice-president of regulatory; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, it is.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you briefly describe your areas of responsibility?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.  I am responsible for all of OPG's interactions with the OEB, including the preparation, filing, and oversight of EB-2020-0290.  I also have responsibility for the company's reliability compliance and market compliance programs.

MR. KEIZER:  And Ms. Ladak, you are vice-president, corporate business development and financial strategy; is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you briefly describe your area of responsibility?

MS. LADAK:  Sure.  I look after preparing financial analysis for any new business ventures that OPG wants to pursue, existing on hydroelectric, but also new nuclear, as well as some off-grid applications that we're looking into.

MR. KEIZER:  And did you -- do you adopt -- and I'll ask each of you this in turn -- do you adopt your evidence -- as your evidence the pre-filed evidence, interrogatories, and undertakings that were identified in Exhibit A1, tab 9, Schedule 1 that are applicable to the small modular reactors and the related issues set out in that exhibit?  Ms. MacDonald?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Ms. Ladak?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, those are our questions in direct.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Based on the schedule -- it is now 10:41 -- the first party for cross-examination, I understand, is AMPCO CCC.  Is that Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. Anderson?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Anderson:

MR. ANDERSON:  Yeah, Mr. Anderson, Commissioner Duff.  Good morning, Commissioners, and good morning, witnesses.  My name is Colin Anderson. I represent AMPCO.  I have a few questions today on the small modular reactor area.  I guess just before we start, AMPCO submitted a compendium yesterday.  I hope that the Panel and the witnesses have that.  And I wonder, Board staff, if I might get an exhibit number for that compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  We'll call that Exhibit K1.1, and it is the AMPCO compendium for panel 1.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  So I would like to start today with Exhibit F2, tab 8, Schedule 1, and I wonder if we can pull that up, and I guess another question of process for Laurie, if I give you page numbers -- and I will specifically try to give you page numbers from the PDF -- I think that's how you're going to navigate, because unfortunately I noticed the page numbers we have in the compendium in the bottom right corner are slightly different.  So what we would be looking for is compendium page 2, if we can pull that up, please.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Anderson, just for clarification, are you asking questions on behalf of AMPCO solely?

MR. ANDERSON:  On the SMR issue it's on behalf of AMPCO solely, yes.  Later today or tomorrow the D2O issue is a joint issue between AMPCO and CCC.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I appreciate that clarification.

MR. ANDERSON:  My apologies for that.  So if we could look at lines 21 through 26 on this page.  So there is a paragraph there, and I won't read the entire thing into the record, because it already exists, but just a couple of quick questions of clarification.  On line 26 it refers to the NVDA, and I'm assuming that is the NDVA, that is the nuclear development variance account; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that, Ms. MacDonald.  And just the other issue, on line 24 it refers to EB-2016-0156, which again I believe should be EB-2016-0152.

Can you just confirm that for me, please?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, I can confirm that reference should be EB-2016-0152.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Many thanks for that.

So the nuclear development variance account that's referenced in the evidence in a number of places, we're talking specifically about the account that is contemplated in Ontario Regulation 53/05 at section 5.4; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  So just back again in reference to this paragraph on the first page of that exhibit, the sum that we're looking at -- and I recognize this has changed, and I'll get to it in a moment -- but the sum that we're looking at in specific reference to this piece of evidence is 272 million over the 2020 and 2021 periods.

I wonder if we could also look at compendium page 7, and that's Board Staff interrogatory response number 248.  And I wonder if you can scroll down, please.  Yeah, just that (b) paragraph in the middle of the page.

So from there we see a breakout of the 272 million as it was understood to be the total at the time of the filing.  And that is 190 million for technology developer selection, 20 million for licensing, and a further 62 million for project development and oversight.  Do you agree with all that?

MS. MacDONALD:  I will refer that question to Ms. Ladak.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I do agree with that.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I understand last week that OPG updated its forecast of that 272 million dollar amount and that you communicated it through Society Interrogatory No. 13.  I wonder if we can get that pulled up.  It is compendium page 8 of 24, and if you can scroll that down, I think it's the last piece -- yes, part C.  Thank you for that.

You'll see in part C that we're talking about 2020 actuals of 13.1 million and a current forecast of the 2021 actual of 153.  Given quick math, that's just over $166 million.  Am I understanding that correctly, that is now the forecast?  What was previously 272 million over the two years has now been reduced to 166 million; is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ANDERSON:  I wonder if you can help me out with the reasons for that.  I know there is some description in the text of the interrogatory response, but I wanted to give an opportunity to provide a bit more of a layman's description of how that changed from 272 down to 166, please.

MS. LADAK:  When the initial estimate was developed, it was at a preliminary stage.  We didn't have all the information at that point that we do now.  So the main reasons are, as we said, costs for the developers.  We didn't have to use the full contingency that we had planned.  And then again like some costs -- estimates are forecast, so some costs will increase and some costs will decrease, but those are the main things.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that, Ms. Ladak.  I wonder does this amount, the 166 million -- and I'll refer to it as the 166 million as opposed to the 272 million which is spread throughout the rest of the evidence -- but does the 166 million include -- there is a .7 million dollars referenced in footnote 3 on page 205 in Exhibit F2, tab 8, schedule 1.  That will be compendium page 3, and  I wonder if we can have a quick look at that.  It will be at the bottom of page 3.  That's the footnote, thank you.

So is that included in the 166?  That is my question.

MS. LADAK:  I don't believe that .7 million is included in the 166.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that.  So it doesn't include that, and I would also expect that at this point, it wouldn't include any allowance for licensing cost variances as described in the same exhibit at lines 12 through 19.  How could it, at this point?  Is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yeah, that's correct, the variances would not be included.  I would like to correct my previous response that the .7 is included in the 166, but we're not seeking recovery for it.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification; so it is in fact included.  So I guess in terms again of initial quantification, so the balance in the NDVA associated with SMR could potentially be higher than 166 million if there are variances associated with -- and I'm using the terms that are in the interrogatory response -- with licensing, with project development and oversight, with selection of a technology developer, or with geotechnical issues which I believe is also referenced in the last portion of that interrogatory response.  Is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  The variance -- the forecast could increase or decrease and at the end of the day, this is part of a variance account.  So we would only recover what the actual costs were, subject to the OEB's approval.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And since you're not seeking clearance of that account in this application, we won't know what its actual balance is for quite some time.  Do you know when you will be seeking the clearance of the nuclear development variance account?  I think you're on mute, Ms. MacDonald.

MS. MacDONALD:  My apologies.  We are seeking recovery of portions of the NDVA in this application.  We do have forecast -- we do have amounts that we are recovering.  In terms of amounts, the 700,000 from 2018 and 2019 as well as the 2020-21 costs, those amounts would be recovered in a subsequent application, either an application that would be tied specifically to the recovery of D&V balances or rate application, but I can't confirm at this point when that would actually occur.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Just a general question.  Are there any other costs associated with SMRs that are included anywhere else in this application right now, and that would be capital or non-capital?

MS. LADAK:  No, there would not be.  There are no other costs associated with these numbers.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you for that.  I would like to move on to the area of I guess what I would call NDVA eligibility, and probably the best place to start would be Regulation 53/05.  And that is found at compendium page 11, I believe.  If we can pull that up.  And if you scroll down a little bit so we can see paragraph 5.4.  Perfect, right there is perfect.

So between this paragraph and the other thing that I would like for you to use to frame your answer is section 78.1 of the OEB Act, which is compendium page 16, but I don't think you need to pull that up.  If we look at section 78.1 of the act and we look at section 5.4 of the regulation, I'm wondering if the witnesses can tell me with reference to those documents how OPG's SMR initiative is eligible for inclusion within that section of the act and within section 2 of the regulation 53/05?

MR. KEIZER:  To be clear, Mr. Anderson -- sorry to interrupt.  But just so I'm clear on your question, are you asking them to interpret the statute which I think is a legal question, or are you simply asking how their costs fall into what they understand 5 -- they understand the NDVA account to be?

MR. ANDERSON:  What I'm asking, Mr. Keizer, is we've already talked about putting 166 million or something north of that into the nuclear development variance account, and I would like to know from practical perspective if those costs are specifically contemplated within this regulation for prescribed facilities.

MR. KEIZER:  All right.  As long as it's related to the implication of their understanding, but not based upon a legal opinion as to what the provision is contemplating.

MS. MacDONALD:  So in response to the question, I will also take into consideration section 6(2)(4) of O. Regulation 53/05, which sets out the obligation on the OEB to ensure that OPG recovers its costs for firm financial commitments made in the course of planning and preparing for the development of new nuclear facilities, provided that the Board is satisfied that those costs are prudent and firm financial commitments have been prudently made.

The variance account is established under section 5.4(1) and the purpose of that variance account is to track any variances between costs and firm financial commitments that are approved in OPG's revenue requirements and the actual amounts that are recorded in the nuclear development variance account.

It's our view that that the proposed costs for SMR planning and preparation work that's currently being undertaken fall within the scope of the two provisions that I just referred to in O.Reg. 53/05.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that, Ms. MacDonald.  I wonder if I can ask a question of clarification.  You referenced section 5.4(1), and I think you also referenced section 6(2)(4).  6(2)(4) is actually the capacity refurbishment variance account.  Were you referring to section 6(2)(4.1)?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, my apologies.  I was referring to section 6(2)(4.1).

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  That's fine, thank you.  I would like to look at the response to part C of Board Staff Interrogatory 248.  And if you'll give me a moment I can tell you what page that's on in the compendium.  248 should be compendium page 7, please, 7 of 24.  Thank you.  And if you could go down to the bottom paragraph and the response.  Okay.

And I'm going to read this just for clarity.  The question that was asked is -- and actually, maybe we should scroll up a little bit.  Sorry for pulling you around.  The question that was asked is:

"Confirm that if OPG's investment decision does not go forward with the construction of an SMR generating station that OPG will write off the amounts recorded in the nuclear development variance account and not seek recovery from ratepayers."

And the response is not confirmed:

"OPG expects to seek recovery of all prudently incurred costs related to preliminary planning and preparation activities for an SMR generating station at the Darlington site, irrespective of whether the project ultimately proceeds to construction."

And then it goes on to reference section 5.4 in Regulation 53/05.

So I would like to ask a couple questions about that response.  The response doesn't limit the prescribed treatment to the $166 million that we've already discussed.  In fact, it says all prudently incurred costs, so what that tells me is OPG plans to eventually charge more than that 166 million through this mechanism.

Is that a fair understanding of this response?

MS. MacDONALD:  OPG would only seek to recover costs recorded in the NDVA that are for the planning and preparation of the proposed new nuclear facilities at Darlington.

MR. ANDERSON:  But those costs could be in excess of the $166 million that we've already discussed previously; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  I believe in Ms. Ladak's response she said that those amounts could either increase or decrease, and the actual costs would be recorded in the account, and OPG would only be entitled to seek recovery of those costs that were prudently incurred.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you another question, because the interrogatory response just refers to costs, and I guess I would ask, is that in reference to non-capital costs, capital costs, or both?

MS. MacDONALD:  When I read the response, the response refers to costs related to the preliminary planning and preparation activities for an SMR generating station at the Darlington site, which I believe tracks the language in section 5.4(1) of O.Reg. 53/05.

MR. ANDERSON:  So, sorry, I'm not sure, was that capital, non-capital, or both that you would assume are included?

MS. MacDONALD:  We would assume non-capital.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And I would agree that section 5.4 only provides for non-capital costs.  Is OPG saying that it will only attempt to clear non-capital amounts incurred pursuant to section 5.4 in any future proceeding associated with this?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.  What OPG has said is that it is entitled to record non-capital costs for the planning and preparation for new nuclear facilities, and those are the amounts that we intend to record in the account during the 2020 and 2021 years, and those are the amounts that we are referring to in our response in section C.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So I think you agreed in section C that you are referring to non-capital costs, and that for the nuclear development variance account.  Besides the nuclear development variance account conflated in section 5.4 of the regulation, are there any other means by which amounts can be cleared?  And what I'm specifically referring to is section 6(2)(4.1) of the regulation, and I wonder if you can describe for me the difference between section 5.4 and section 6(2)(4.1), again from a practical perspective.  I'm not looking for a legal interpretation.

Perhaps as an assistance we can pull up section 6(2)(4.1) of the regulation.  And the regulation begins on compendium page 9, so it may be -- if we can scroll down to section 6(2)(4.1), that will be very helpful, thank you.  And just a tad further.  That's perfect.

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, section 6(2)(4.1) imposes an obligation on the Board to ensure that OPG recovers its costs and firm further financial commitments made for the planning and preparing for new nuclear facilities, provided that those costs and firm financial commitments have been prudently incurred or made.

MR. ANDERSON:  And from your perspective how is section 6(2)(4.1) different from section 5.4, which has very, very similar language, actually?  There are clauses in both of those sections that are repeated, and I'm looking to get your sense of how those two are different.

MS. MacDONALD:  Well, section --


MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, if I can interject.  I think that is a question of legal interpretation, and I think it is a question of argument as to how those sections necessarily work and how they should be interpreted from a statutory perspective, and I think the witness has indicated that they understand that 4.1 has got an obligation for the Board to ensure the recovery of costs, the implication of those relative two sections together and how they should work within that, I believe, is a legal interpretation, which -- this is a fact-based witness, not here to provide legal opinion, and it's something that is best raised in argument.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I guess I'm interested in the practical perspective, and with respect to my friend's opinion, I'm not sure it's a legal question.  It's a question of if you're doing regulatory affairs and 53/05 is your principal regulation, I would expect you would understand the difference between the two sections.  And maybe to further ask some questions about this that my friend Mr. Keizer doesn't object to, I'll take us to compendium page 23 for a moment, and if you could scroll down to the second paragraph.  This is a letter that was filed by Mr. Keizer on July 26th.  And I'm just -- I'm going to read the second paragraph into the record:

"Based on Ontario Regulation 53/05, the purpose of the NDVA consists of, 1), the recording of non-capital costs incurred and firm financial commitments made for the planning and preparation for development of proposed new nuclear facilities under section 5(4.1) of Regulation 53/05; and 2), the OEB's obligations to ensure recovery of those costs if prudent under section 6(2)(4.1) of Ontario Regulation 53/05.  The latter legal obligation was found by the OEB to exist regardless of whether the proposed new nuclear facilities are ultimately prescribed under Regulation 53/05, section 2."

So the reference to that prior decision, which is included -- there is a little footnote 1, which has -- exists at the bottom of the page, and thank you for scrolling down.  That makes it easier.  It's actually a decision from the first OPG payment amounts application.  It's listed as EB-2009-0905.  It's actually EB-2005-0905.  It's actually EB-2007-0905, and Mr. Keizer has accurately quoted a section of that regulation -- sorry, that decision.

I guess within the context of that, my question for the witnesses would be this.  Given the decision of a panel doesn't necessarily bind a subsequent decision by a different panel, so long as that subsequent decision can be considered reasonable, do you think it might be possible that the current OEB Panel could view things just a little differently?

And I'll give you a little bit more.  This Panel is going to have a different set of facts that they need to consider in this application than were considered 12 years ago, or however long ago that is.  So to assume they arrive at the exact same spot in terms of their interpretation may not be guaranteed.  Would you agree with that?

MR. KEIZER:  This is a point of argument.  Mr. Anderson is putting his argument through the witness rather than asking the witness for factual questions, but rather is asking to comment on his positions that he may put forward in argument at a later date to have them affirm or not affirm.  This is not an appropriate cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  In its submissions, parties could make -- if instructed do so, address certain questions, and the Board will provide direction regarding the breadth of those submissions and should they address this topic.

There is one question that I want to ask.  Is the small modular reactor dollars we've been talking about, are they considered prescribed as such?  Is there any intent, this Panel doesn't determine what's prescribed and not prescribed, so perhaps OPG has some information.  I can ask the witnesses, Mr. Anderson, with your indulgence.

MR. ANDERSON:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

MS. MacDONALD:  In response to your question, Madam Chair, it's OPG's view that the addition of any generation type is ultimately a decision that will be made by the province.  It's a policy decision that will take into account the system planning function.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Anderson, I think there are some legal interpretation questions.  I think you've highlighted them and explained your concerns.  Perhaps you can please proceed on a factual basis with these witnesses.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have one other area.  I don't believe it's a legal area and I'll ask the question.  I want to get the reaction of the witnesses to something.

I'm going to look at, and again within the context of the decision that was rendered in EB 2007-0905, there was a capacity refurbishment variance account that was established by the Board pursuant to Section 6(2)(4) as part of the Board’s decision in that proceeding.  Section 6(2)(4.1) is worded consistent with Section 6(2)(4.1).  Doesn't it seem reasonable that similar to what was needed in Section 6(2)(4), a new account would be required for Section 6(2)(4.1) which doesn't exist today?

MR. KEIZER:  I think again that is a question of what the regulation required and as a point of the argument.  The fact that 6(2)(4) contemplates the recovery of certain costs, but there is no statement within the context of that regulation as to a CRVA and at the same, time 6-4-1 contemplates something, but there's 5.1-4 does have contemplation of an account which mirrors the language of 6(2)(4).

So I think that is again an interpretation of the regulation, how the regulation works and the legal parameters within that regulation.  And my objection still stands with respect to the fact that this is -- this is about legal interpretation and these witnesses are here as fact-based and not for their legal expertise.

MR. ANDERSON:  Let me ask a fact based question of the witnesses.  Does OPG believe the capital amounts for SMRs can be recorded and recovered through Section 6(2)(4.1)?

MS. MacDONALD:  OPG does not view that capital amounts can be recorded under the NDVA under Section 5.4(1).

MR. ANDERSON:  That's not exactly what I asked.  I asked do you think capital amounts can be recovered through Section 6(2)(4.1), the other section?

MR. KEIZER:  Again, I think this is about that interpretation of the word costs in 6(2)(4.1), and Mr. Anderson is attempting to get Ms. MacDonald to interpret the language within the section as to costs.  6(2)(4.1) refers only to costs and not to non-capital costs, which is the case in 5.4 where it refers to non-capital.

So I think again it's attempting to interpret what the word "costs" means within 6(2)(4).  I think it's still a concern about, again, the argument of what the regulation means and the scope of the regulation, which I believe is a legal one which is obviously at the root of where we are on regulation 53.

MR. ANDERSON:  I'm simply responding to the references that were made in the letter of July 26, which called out sections 5.4 and sections 6(2)(4.1).  Those were the basis for these questions, and I am simply responding to that.  I thought that would effectively put that area in play.

MR. KEIZER:  The letter is from legal counsel written as a basis of our view as legal counsel for OPG as to the interpretation of Regulation 53/05, and obviously happy to reply to the submissions with respect to the law at that time.  But it is written not on OPG letterhead, but on Torys letterhead, and is a statement of law.

MR. ANDERSON:  Fair enough.  Thank you for that, Mr. Keizer.  I'll move on.  I would like to talk about capital spend, potential capital spend.  Can you please turn up Exhibit F2, tab 8, schedule 1, page 2 of 5, and specifically lines 21 through 24.  I believe that's compendium page 3 of 24.  If you could go down a little bit further -- perfect.  That's good right there.

So the excerpt I'm looking starts with OPG.  
"OPG is planning to construct an SMR nuclear generating station at the Darlington site with projected in-service by the end of this decade."


Do you see that, witnesses?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So to be clear, OPG is planning on designing, building, commissioning, and starting to operate an SMR before 2030; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  In response to your question, OPG is currently undertaking the planning and preparation work for a potential SMR at Darlington.  That work will ultimately result in a business case that will be relied upon by government to decide upon whether an SMR will proceed at Darlington.

MR. ANDERSON:  I understand you have considerable work to do, but I'm reacting to the language on the page in front of us.  And again, it's planning to construct an SMR with projected in-service by the end of this decade.

So again, you are planning on designing, building, commissioning and starting to operate an SMR before 2030.  Would you agree with that?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is the intention, but it is subject to the other points that I noted in my prior response that ultimately a decision to go forward will be a decision that will be made by the province, taking into account system planning considerations.

MR. ANDERSON:  And to be very clear, I understand plans change, but that's the current plan.  So let me ask you this.  Would you agree with this that that seems like a lot of work in a relatively short period of time?  Would you agree with that?

MS. LADAK:  I guess I would just ask, a lot of work is a very subjective term, so what do you mean by a lot?  I mean, there's lots of work to do, I agree, but it's just, you need to look at the time frame and what's required to be done.

MR. ANDERSON:  And I would absolutely agree with you.  I'm not looking for any quantified response here, Ms. Ladak, but what I guess I'm reacting to is, nuclear generating stations of the past have probably taken more than nine years from the point that we're at now to the point where they're generating useful electricity on to the grid, and designing and building and commissioning and operating those stations is, in my relatively uninformed opinion, it's a lot of work, and I'm reacting to, you guys are going do it by 2030.  And you are where you are now, where you're just putting some plans in place.  Doesn't that seem like a lot of work?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair, can I ask a question, I guess, of relevance, because the intent behind the issue on the issues list was about, the costs were being incurred and that would be recorded in the NDVA.  Mr. Anderson is now pursuing a line of questioning with respect to the, you know, construction of the facility, when it's going to be constructed, how much work is going to be required to construct it.  I'm not clear as to how that necessarily relates to the issue before the Board, which is, what's the nature of the costs that are being contemplated being recorded in the NDVA and how they fit with that, the purpose of the NDVA.

So if my friend is going to embark on a series of questions about how we're actually going to -- how, subject to whatever business case that is developed, this is actually going to be constructed, planned, and developed and what the ultimate costs are, that, in my submission, is out of scope of the issue that's currently before the Board.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Anderson -- well, I'll let you respond to that.  When I hear your questions, are you -- is there some weight placed on the eventual in-service or the actual development which then reflects on legitimacy of the planning and preparation costs?  Am I reading too much into what you're saying?  I'm not too sure I understand your line of questioning.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sure.  Let me try to explain.  I'm reflecting on the time line that OPG has put in its evidence as to when this particular facility would be up and running, and then I want to relate that back to what is what's going on today with respect to the facility, and to my friend's objection, my next question is going to be dealing with capital spending.  And capital spending is contemplated -- is a reasonable expense question, and I would like to know what OPG's response will be to that.  It will take a very short period of time for me to get to where I'm going.

MS. DUFF:  I don't think the in-service is going to be during the five years in question here, so --


MR. ANDERSON:  Oh, no.

MS. DUFF:  -- the answer is beyond the scope.  So just proceed.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  What I was getting at was, were you placing more emphasis on the need to have it developed?  That's where I wasn't too sure if you were honing in on that question or not, but apparently not.

MR. ANDERSON:  No.  It is actually not the area.  And I will advance this as quickly as I can, if I can just have a little indulgence.  My apologies.

Okay.  So would the witnesses agree that this application before the Board currently contains no forecast of capital spending associated with SMRs?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And to Commissioner Duff's question or concern, the current test period that we're discussing is between 2022 and 2026.  So between the end of the test period and the end of the decade we have three years left.  We have '27, '28, and '29.  So my question is this:  Regardless whether you think that designing, building, commissioning, and starting to operate an SMR is an ambitious undertaking, it is what it is, and that's if you started today; so if you don't start spending capital until 2027, it would be even harder to do that.  Is that fair to say?

MR. KEIZER:  Madam Chair, what does this have do with the NDVA when capital is going to be spent or timing of what is capital and what is not?  I think Mr. Anderson has clearly established what 5.4 says, which is in relation to non-capital costs for planning and preparation.  That I don't think is in doubt.  So I'm not quite sure why the relevance of when capital cost is going to be spent and how it's going to be done and whether it can actually be executed within three years or five years has anything to do with the NDVA.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think what it's driving at, Mr. Keizer, is, is it a fair assumption to say that if OPG is to meet its forecast in-service date it will have to start spending capital way before 2027, and that's what we're all concerned about.

MR. KEIZER:  But that has nothing do with what gets recorded in the NDVA.  You have a concern about that, and that's something that you may want to pursue in some other avenue, but as I understand the issue before the Board, it relates to the planning and preparation costs and what's recorded in the NDVA, not when and how and how much capital is going to be.

MR. ANDERSON:  And when I look at OPG's response, Mr. Keizer, the Board Staff 248, it looks like OPG's view is that its regulated payment amounts are not just going to be in section 5.4, but when I look at that in relation to your letter, I'm concerned that there are going to be capital amounts that are going to be included somewhere else in 6(2)(4.1).  And my question for the witnesses is, is there any capital spending currently planned between 2022 and 2026 on SMRs?

MS. DUFF:  Can the witnesses answer that question?  During the five-year period that we're -- that's within scope?

MS. MacDONALD:  Given that a decision has not been made to proceed with an SMR at Darlington, that's not a question that we have an answer for.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I would like to move on to a different area.  So in our previous conversation we have established that the nuclear development variance account will have an outstanding balance at the end of this proceeding, and that's a balance somewhere -- your forecast currently is 166 million; is that correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, based on the forecast, that is correct.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Can we please turn up Exhibit H1, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 1, lines 10 to 17, and that would be compendium page 18, please.  So I won't read all of this into the record.  It's lines 10 to 17 that I'm specifically interested in.  And we can see from this evidence that there are a number of accounts in addition to the nuclear development variance account that are not being cleared as part of this proceeding.  Would you agree with that?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, there are several deferral and variance accounts for which OPG is not seeking to recover either all or a portion of the balances up to December of 2019.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  And I would like to itemize a few of those just for illustration.  So we'll start with 166 million that's in the NDVA, or that will be in the NDVA.  The next piece I would like to itemize -- and all of these are specifically set out in that paragraph that I referenced, lines 10 to 17.  There is a DRP component of the capacity refurbishment variance account, and if we look at Exhibit H1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 2, line 5, and that's compendium page 20.  We'll see that that's $55.6 million, and I'll wait until it's up.  Would you agree with that?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  Mr. Anderson raised this as an argument.  He raised it as an argument that one of the reasons SMR is going to be considered was because there were lots of other -- there were other accounts which were not covered and that SMRs were included in those other accounts that are not being recovered.

At the end of day, you made a conclusion that the issue before the Board is whether OPG's SMR-related costs are consistent with the purpose of the NDVA.  And so what I'm struggling to understand is why the comparison to the other accounts that are or are not being recovered have anything to do with the nature of the costs that are being recorded in the account.  And that Mr. Anderson is pursuing a line of questioning which I don't think was accepted on the issues day and actually found its way into the issue itself.

MR. ANDERSON:  Mr. Keizer, I'll reference issue 13.1, and in fact, I'll read it into the record.  
"Is the nature or type of cost recorded and methodologies used to record costs in the deferral and variance accounts related to OPG's nuclear and regulated hydroelectric assets appropriate?"


I'm inquiring as to balances in the deferral and variance accounts.  I can't see how that doesn't fit within 13.1.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess my argument is that 13.1 was settled, other than the issue relating to SMRs, and that's number one.  And number two, on the issues day, which is the purpose of why we're here today, the Board made a conclusion in its decision that said it was going to look at the very narrow -- at the narrow issue of the SMR-related costs consistent with the purpose of the NDVA, and not a full expansion and inquiry of issue 13.1.

MR. ANDERSON:  I'm not trying to look at everything under 13.1, Mr. Keizer.  What I'm attempting to do is show there are a number of areas in this application where costs are being pushed down the road, including the NDVA.  And what I'm concerned about is that those costs could become much, much bigger.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand that.  But that's not the issue that this panel, as I understood the issues decision, was here to contemplate.  Not about how much the total is being deferred, but rather what is being put forth, and there is a distinct difference.  So I think the question is irrelevant.

MS. DUFF:  On this page that we're looking at in front of us, the line -- everything else was settled except for line, someone is going to have to increase that 150 percent please.  Thank you.  That's great.

Mr. Anderson, what exactly was your question on this page?  You had the witness confirm that the -- what line was it?

MR. ANDERSON:  I believe it was line -- sorry, just one second.  That would be the capacity refurbishment variance account, which was line 5.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. ANDERSON:  It was speaking directly to the areas in the H1, tab 1, schedule 1 exhibit, lines 10 to 17, that set out that they were not being cleared as part of this account -- sorry, as part of this application.  I was looking to get a sense of how much is not being cleared and there were a few line items I was going to point to.

MS. DUFF:  Which is a product of the settlement also.  That's my only concern.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  If you can please stay clear of that in reference to items that have been resolved and then focus on the ones that have yet to be settled, and there will be submissions on them.  Does that help you at all?  I'm sorry if I'm not being clear.

MR. ANDERSON:  No, I think you're being very clear.  My apologies for that.  I'm going to move to the last area that I have.  And I would like to ask the witnesses -- if we look at Exhibit F2, tab 8, schedule 1, page 5 of 5, lines 4 to 6 -- and that again is compendium page 6.

In that reference, we see OPG plans on having some form of cost estimate and investment decision document by November 2021.  Does OPG plan on filing that, or some sort of summary of that with the OEB?

MS. MacDONALD:  It was not OPG's intention to do so.

MR. ANDERSON:  May I ask why not?

MS. MacDONALD:  That business case will be reviewed by OPG's board of directors and, as mentioned previously, relied upon by the province in terms of making a decision to proceed with an SMR at Darlington.

MR. ANDERSON:  Let me ask the question differently.  Could it file something like? It doesn't have to be the specific report, but some summary document that describes what's contained within it.

MS. DUFF:  Currently, it's not listed under the appendix A of record keeping and reporting agreements of what's to be provided.  To the extent that it relates to this small modular reactor, Mr. Anderson, I guess you're asking that this could potentially be an addition to appendix A?

MR. ANDERSON:  I guess what I'm asking, Commissioner Duff, is let's say the Board was to direct OPG to provide updates.  I want to explore what could they report and would they be able do so.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the question about what they're able to do so.  Obviously, you're free to argue what you want with respect to reporting obligations that OPG may or may not be required to do so.  I don't think it's necessarily -- the witnesses stated the position that the business case itself would not be available and would not, from OPG's perspective, be appropriate to disclose given the nature of the decision-making process that will be entailed.  And to the extent that the business case itself would not be disclosed for those reasons, I'm not sure why a summary of that business case necessarily would be any different than that.  I think the witness has answered the question.

MR. ANDERSON:  But there is no prohibition on them providing updates to the Board, if the Board so directed.  Would you agree with that?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that's a point of argument.

MR. ANDERSON:  Then I will carry it on in argument.  I think that concludes my questions, Panel.  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Anderson.  I'm going to -- where is my schedule?  Mr. Ladanyi, Energy Probe.  Are you prepared to proceed at this point?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I am.  Good morning, Panel and Commissioners.   My name is Tom Ladanyi, for the record.   I think all of you know me.  I've worked with most of you over the years, so it's kind of like being with friends.  I think I first met Ms. Duff about thirty years ago when I took her on a tour of Consumers Gas construction sites, and Mr. Sardana was at one time my boss.  So I hope this will be a very friendly cross-examination.

I sent my Energy Probe compendium out yesterday morning.  Do we have that?

MR. MILLAR:  We can mark that as Exhibit K1.2.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 1


MR. LADANYI:  We all have that.  Very good.  Are we ready to proceed?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, please.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we turn to tab 1?  My compendium has tabs and pages.  It's very difficult to organize these things, let me tell you.  Turn to tab 1 -- no, tab 1 is the decision on issues list. 

Energy Probe compendium, and it is page 3 of my compendium.  There we are.  Now go -- you're on page 1.  Go to page -- tab 1 is page 3, and it's a decision on issues list.  And the next page is the entire decision on issues list dealing with small modular reactors, and I'm not going to take up any time going through the preamble here.  And if we can just turn to page 5, please, which is the next page.  No, back, please.  There we are.

Okay.  So you will see very last sentence -- I've got it in bold, and it says:

"The OEB will consider the narrow issue of whether OPG's SMR-related costs are consistent with the purpose of the NDVA and thereby appropriate to be booked into the account."

Do you see that?  Very good.  Now, the issue is whether SMR-related costs should be booked into the nuclear development variance account, not what OPG is seeking to recover from ratepayers in this application.  Do you agree with that?  Witnesses?

MS. MacDONALD:  Sorry, could you please repeat your question?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  The issue in this particular hearing, not the entire case, is whether SMR-related costs should be booked into the nuclear development variance account, not what OPG is seeking to recover from ratepayers in this application; is that right?

MS. MacDONALD:  As it relates to those amounts, yes, that is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Right.  And you're not trying to recover anything related to those amounts?

MS. MacDONALD:  No, we are not.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, if you can turn to tab 2, which is on page 6, and that is an excerpt of Ontario Regulation 53/05, sections 5.3 and 5.4.  And if you can turn to the next page -- there we are, thank you.  Here we see that section 5.3 was revoked in 2013 by Ontario Regulation 312/13.  And I don't have to bring that up.  And then we have -- see the section 5.4, which we discussed -- or you discussed this morning with Mr. Anderson.

So my questions are going to be accounting questions in general and probably addressed to Ms. Ladak.  I understand you are a CPA, Ms. Ladak?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So my understanding is that only rate-regulated entities have variance accounts; is that right?

MS. LADAK:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And in general, what is the purpose of a variance account?

MS. MacDONALD:  The purpose of a variance account is to track any variances between amounts approved in revenue requirement by the OEB and the actual cost incurred.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, thank you for that specific answer.  I was actually asking a general question.  In general, what is the purpose of variance accounts, and it probably is more of an accounting question, since we have an accounting expert on the panel.

MR. KEIZER:  First of all, Ms. Ladak is not here as an accounting expert.  She's here based upon her understanding and experience relating to SMRs and the costs associated with SMRs.  She's not here to give accounting opinion as an accounting expert, just to be clear.

MR. LADANYI:  That's fine, but --


MR. KEIZER:  -- Mr. Ladanyi, you can make your question clearer as to what you imply from an accounting perspective, financial perspective, what you mean.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, we're discussing entries into a variance account, and I wanted to have a general explanation of why one would have a variance account so that we can better understand what are appropriate entries into a variance account.  I'm sure Ms. Ladak must know what is a variance account and why any entity would have a variance account.

MR. KEIZER:  I think it's a question of whether it's -- I think either panellist may be able to answer.  I don't think it necessarily should be restricted to one particular witness.  Ms. MacDonald may know in terms of the regulatory aspect.  Ms. Ladak may know in terms of a financial aspect.

MS. LADAK:  The impact of -- well, I'm not sure this relates again to the issues that is in the scope of this hearing, but the purpose of a variance account, it would adjust the costs that you're recording so the costs would not be expensed in the period that they are incurred.  It would be held in this variance account and expensed over time.  That would be the financial accounting meaning of what the variance account is.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So an entity that did not have a variance account, what would they do with period costs?  They would have to expense them.  Isn't that right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So a rate-regulated entity that has a variance account for non-capital costs, it would actually not have to expense them.  It could keep those costs in a variance account as OPG is doing; is that right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, subject to approval, that that's -- it's entitled to record those costs, yes, it would not expense those costs then, it would expense them over a period of time, not in the period they were incurred.

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  So -- but it would be a choice of the management of the utility to expense the cost or to ask the ratepayers to charge these costs to -- sorry, ask the regulator to charge these costs to ratepayers; isn't that right?

MS. LADAK:  I would need to go back to the wording that we have in our regulation, that I believe it says OPG shall record these costs.  I would need to go back to look at that.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and I'm not disputing that at all.  I'm just saying that if you mentioned expense, and since we're talking about expensing, the expensing of the costs would be up to management and the recovery of possible expense costs would be up to approval of the OEB.  Isn't that right?  That's actually a simple question.

MS. LADAK:  Correct.  No, that is correct.  I was just saying it is subject -- the decision to expense or record the costs in a variance account, in our case it's based on the Regulation 53/05.  But that was my point --


MR. LADANYI:  So is --


MS. LADAK:  -- [multiple speakers] decide whether we're going to expense or not if there is a regulation that instructs us to record costs in a variance account, we would record those costs in the variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  So is having this choice an advantage that a rate-regulated entity like OPG has over entities that are not rate-regulated?

MS. MacDONALD:  I don't think that that's something that I can comment on.

MR. LADANYI:  So an entity that is not rate-regulated would have to expense these costs in the period that they're incurred, whereas OPG can keep these costs for a later period for possible recovery.  Would that not be an advantage to OPG?

MS. LADAK:  It would increase the company's net income for that period, if that's what you're implying.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I am, actually.  That's exactly what I'm implying, is a rate-regulated entity does not have to expense these costs and therefore for that period when the costs are incurred the rate-regulated entity would actually have higher income and obviously greater earnings than a non-rate-regulated entity, so it would have a competitive advantage against the rate-regulated entities because of that ability to not expense these costs.

MS. LADAK:  Over time the advantage disappears, because we do expense those costs over time, right, so whereas a non-rate-regulated entity would expense those costs in that period, a rate-regulated entity would expense those costs over a period of time, so -- and our period of amortization is typically three years, so over the three-year period the rate-regulated entity's income would be the same as a non-rate regulated entity.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't disagree with that.  So if we can turn to tab 3, which is on page 8, and this is Ontario Regulation 27/08.  And if you can turn to the next page.  So this regulation, as I understand, is still in effect, and this regulation essentially mentions two accounts.  One is a nuclear development deferral account, which is 5.3, which was later revoked, and it was revoked in 2013.  We can go check that regulation, but it's not particularly relevant.  

And there's also on the next page is the account that we're familiar with, which is account 5.4 -- sorry, section 5.4, which is a nuclear development variance account.  Do you see that?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So even though a nuclear development deferral account no longer exists, in general, what is the difference between a deferral account and a variance account?

MS. MacDONALD:  A deferral account enables the recording of amounts not specifically approved in revenue requirement, whereas a variance account tracks different amounts approved in revenue requirement and actuals.

MR. LADANYI:  So total amounts of actual costs can be booked into a deferral account, while only a variance between what is recovered in rates and actual costs can be booked into a variance account; is that right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. LADANYI:  So as I understand it, OPG is not recovering any amount in payment amounts for SMRs, and is not proposing to recover any in this application; is that right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Other than the amounts to preserve the option of new nuclear at Darlington, we are not pursuing recovery of any amounts specific to the planning and operation for an SMR at Darlington.

MR. LADANYI:  So it could be argued if OPG is proposing to use the nuclear development variance account as in fact as a deferral account, because it's currently not recovering anything in rates for SMRs.  But there is no deferral account left.  It's been abolished already, it's been revoked, is that right?

MS. MacDONALD:  No, that's not correct because we haven't proposed -- we haven't included or proposed to include any amounts in revenue requirement specifically for SMRs between 2022 and 2026.

MR. LADANYI:  Actually, I don't have to take you back to the Board's decision on the issues list on the issue.  But I'm not talking about revenue requirement.  I'm talking entirely about what's going into the account, and you're proposing to include in the account 166 million, as was pointed out this morning, and this is the entire amount and you actually have no reference in rates for that.  This is not a variance; this is a total amount.

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, those were amounts not reflected in our revenue requirement at the time of EB-2016-0152.

MS. LADAK:  Can I also just add that we did have approval for costs related to new nuclear development, and those were the licensing costs.  So I would take a look at that and just say those are costs that were approved.  That's part of the variance account.  Licensing costs are part of that, as well as planning and preparation costs.  So you can look at those costs that were already in our revenue requirement previously, and say we're recording the difference now between those approved costs and the costs to date.

MR. LADANYI:  Am I right if I recollect that those licensing costs were related to advanced CANDU reactor and not to an SMR.  Is that right?

MS. LADAK:  I don't think it really matters.  The account is only for new nuclear development.  So whether it's advanced CANDU or an SMR, they're both new nuclear development.

MR. LADANYI:  We can deal with that in argument.  My understanding of regulatory accounting is that prior to approval of a capital project, there are no capital costs.  Is that your understanding?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. LADANYI:  Has the shareholder approved OPG's SMR?

MS. MacDONALD:  No, the shareholder has not approved an SMR at Darlington, but the Minister of Energy and Northern Mines and Development, in his concurrence letter to OPG's 2020 to 2026 business plan, did set out his expectation that OPG would continue to advance the development of an on-grid SMR at Darlington, including the technology selection.  And we did provide a copy of that concurrence letter, I believe, with CCC 14.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you for that.  OEB has not approved SMR; we all know that.  Would you agree all SMR costs are non-capital costs until OPG obtains approval for the SMR.  Is that right?

MS. LADAK:  I would agree they're non-capital costs until OPG makes a decision to proceed with the project.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, section 5.4 talks about firm financial commitments, and also your evidence discusses firm financial commitments.  What is a firm financial commitment, in general?

MS. LADAK:  I would say firm financial commitment is where you have not incurred a cost, but you've made an arrangement with another entity that you are going to incur costs.

MR. LADANYI:  So who would decide if a financial commitment is firm or not?

MS. LADAK:  In terms of your ability to exit a contract that you have entered into.

MR. LADANYI:  OPG management -- I'm trying to understand what you're telling me.  OPG management would reach some kind of an agreement with an outside party and sign a contract, and then it would ask its legal counsel whether this was a firm financial commitment or not.  Is that what you would do?

MS. LADAK:  Mr. Ladanyi, is your question related to whether we can record what types of costs we can record in the account?

MR. LADANYI:  Exactly, that's what we're talking about and one of the costs are firm financial commitments.  And I'm trying to find out in fact what is your interpretation of firm financial commitments.  What would that be, and how would you decide that a commitment is firm or now, and how you would account for it in the account.  So we are discussing entirely what is within the scope of the issue.

MS. LADAK:  Thank you for the clarification, Mr. Ladanyi.  I would say it would be whether you are able to exit a contract or not, and the cost of exiting the contract.

MR. LADANYI:  OEB would not be involved in deciding what is a firm financial commitment.  That would be something that would entirely happen between OPG management and possibly your legal counsel, is that right?

MS. LADAK:  My view is that the OEB is going to approve recovery of any of these accounts.  So in the end, it's OEB's interpretation of what a firm financial commitment is.

MR. LADANYI:  Absolutely, and I don't disagree.  I think when you apply to OEB to clear the balance in the account, which might be years now, you're going to present different costs to the OEB and you will then explain how these things were firm financial commitments.

But I'm talking about the time that these are entered into the account, which might be this year.  You're not going to apply to OEB for everything you enter into an account this year, are you?

MS. MacDONALD:  No, we are not.

MR. LADANYI:  Let me give you an example and it's just theoretical, so I understand how this is going to work.  For example, if OPG signs a contract with an SMR technology vendor for $50 million to be spent over two years, would the entire 50 million be booked into the account when the contract is signed, or will actual cost be booked over two years as the money is spent?

MS. LADAK:  We record amounts into the variance account.  We do it as amounts are spent.

MR. LADANYI:  So you're not using accrual accounting for deferral accounts?

MS. LADAK:  Sorry, we are using accrual accounting.

MR. LADANYI:   Then you will have to record the $50 million when the obligation is signed.

MS. LADAK:  Fair enough, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So the balance in the deferral account earns an interest.  So if I understand right, you will be earning interest on the money you have only made commitment for, but have actually not spent?

MS. LADAK:  I understand your question, Mr. Ladanyi, about whether -- when we actually record the amounts, but it would have to be to the point where we actually have a legal -- I'm not sure I'm explaining this well.  It would be firm financial commitment.  It would have to actually -- have conducted some kind of activity to record the amount in the account, like, not just sign the agreement.  Like, you would have to have -- the vendor would have had to perform some work for you, not just when you enter into the contract.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry to interrupt, Madam Chair.  Would it be helpful to Mr. Ladanyi if OPG were to undertake 
and -- to describe the circumstances and means by which it would record firm financial commitments in the NDVA?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, that would be fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that will be Exhibit J -- or, pardon me, Undertaking J1.2.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  OPG TO DESCRIBE THE CIRCUMSTANCES AND MEANS BY WHICH IT WOULD RECORD FIRM FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS IN THE NDVA.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Let me move to another area, and I would like to find out more about booking of costs of different initiatives.  These are SMR-related initiatives.

So as I understand it, initiatives don't happen by themselves.  There are people who make them happen.  So do the costs of initiatives that are being booked in the account that at least OPG plans to book in the account include compensation costs of OPG employees working on SMR?

MS. LADAK:  The costs that we're recording when OPG staff perform work include OPG's labour costs, so the compensation would be a component of those costs.

MR. LADANYI:  And so those employees who are working on SMR, are they fully dedicated to SMRs so you know what they are, or do they fill out a time sheet so they can charge their time working on SMRs to this account?

MS. LADAK:  Some people are fully dedicated and some people would record time and track the portion of their time spent on SMRs.

MR. LADANYI:  Do the costs of initiatives include allocated overheads of OPG common costs, such as, for example, office space and so on?

MS. LADAK:  I would need -- well, we typically record our labour costs which include compensation costs.  We typically record the overhead costs separately.  I would need -- actually, I would probably like to take an undertaking on it just to explain how we record costs in the variance account related to labour.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I will take an undertaking on that, but -- and just ask you one additional one.  Do the costs of initiatives include any financing costs, and if you can take an undertaking to explain to me what costs you're booking to this account and how and whether the fully allocated costs and financing costs are there or what exactly is being booked?

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J1.3.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO EXPLAIN HOW OPG RECORDS COSTS IN THE VARIANCE ACCOUNT RELATED TO LABOUR; TO ADVISE IF THE COSTS OF INITIATIVES INCLUDE ANY FINANCING COSTS, TO EXPLAIN WHAT COSTS OPG IS BOOKING TO THIS ACCOUNT, AND HOW AND WHETHER THE FULLY ALLOCATED COSTS AND FINANCING COSTS ARE THERE OR WHAT EXACTLY IS BEING BOOKED.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Is OPG propose --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, just to be clear, the undertaking -- the last part of the undertaking question, that was related to the financial costs or --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it was financing costs.  So we're talking about financing costs, and we're also using the cost of overheads, of employees, and compensation costs, and if I might add -- and I hope you're not going to object to this -- if OPG is charging any costs of unregulated OPG affiliates into the account.  And then you can have a complete answer for the Board.  Does OPG understand -- I understand OPG has unregulated affiliates, and --


MR. KEIZER:  That it's OPG costs only.  That's what you want to be clarified.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I want to know exactly -- well, it's not -- in a way we're talking about not OPG costs only, you're talking what's going into the account.  If there's other stuff going into the account, please, yes, tell me about it.

MR. KEIZER:  We'll clarify the latter aspect --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, so these are OPG ss a corporate entity, not OPG as a regulated entity, so OPG as a corporate entity has unregulated affiliates.  So I would like to know what the cost of unregulated affiliates are being booked into the account.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MS. LADAK:  I would like to just respond to two points, Mr. Ladanyi, that I can clear up right now.  The first is, we are not recording financing costs, and then the second is, we are not including costs of OPG affiliates or people working on our unregulated operations.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, thank you.  You can put it also in writing in the response, but I'll take that answer.

So is OPG proposing any upper and lower limits on SMR costs that should be booked or recorded into the account or perhaps a materiality threshold?  So is there anything or is it all wide open?

MS. LADAK:  OPG is following the rules of the Regulation 53/05 and just recording the costs that are appropriate based on the regulation.

MR. LADANYI:  So if I -- as I see it, 53/05 has no upper and lower limits.

MS. LADAK:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Is that right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So you could theoretically -- and I don't think you're going to do it, but theoretically you could actually book in $5 billion into the account and you'd be free to do that.  You don't need any permission from the OEB to do that, as far as you see it.

MS. MacDONALD:  OPG can book costs again tied to the scope that is set out in section 5.4, but recovery of those amounts would be subject to the Board finding them to be prudent.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Now, would all costs remain in the deferral -- in the variance account earn interest until OPG approves disposal?

MR. MILLAR:  I think you misspoke.  It's OEB.  The transcript --


MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, sorry.  Let me try again.  Sorry about that.  Will all costs remain in the variance account earn interest until OEB approves disposal?  So OPG would apply for disposal, but OEB would have to approve disposal and charges that might be later on charged to ratepayers?  So everything meanwhile -- so costs -- my point is this.  My costs could remain in this variance account for 10 years?  There is no limit on time, on how long the costs could remain in the account earning interest?

MS. MacDONALD:  53/05 doesn't set out any time period.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So if the shareholder -- so this is the province -- approves the SMR in 2022, would OPG apply to the OEB to transfer the balance from the variance account to a CWIP account, construction work in progress account, in 2022?

MS. LADAK:  Once a decision is approved, that decision is made to proceed with construction of an SMR, we would start capitalizing costs, but I cannot say if we would be transferring the balance that's in the account to a CWIP account.  I don't -- that's not typically what we do, because those costs were not -- I mean, I'm not sure what we would do, but typically those costs were OM&A costs when they were incurred.

MR. LADANYI:  So you could, as I understand your answer, you could actually receive approval from the province, start construction of the SMR, and leave the costs incurred to date in the variance account; is that right?  Until you apply to the OEB at some later date?

MS. MacDONALD:  Do you mean that we could not seek recovery of the balances up to and including 2021 until a later date after potential approval?  Is that the question that you're asking?

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is a possibility.

MR. LADANYI:  So let's turn to a different area, and if we can turn to tab 4.  Very good.  And this is from your own evidence, Exhibit A, tab 2, Schedule 1, attachment 1, and you can see the first -- you have a couple of paragraphs excerpted here.  And I will read to you what it says here, what I've underlined:

"As Canada's largest nuclear operator with extensive experience and a strong safety record, OPG is well positioned to advance and secure acceptance of both grid scale and off-grid SMRs across Canada and beyond.  To that end, in 2020, OPG formed a joint venture with Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation and Global First Power, with the goal of developing a proposed micro modular reactor", trademark, "SMR​​ at the Chalk River Laboratories site.  The joint venture is the first commercial partnership on the development of an SMR in Canada and can serve as a model for future off-grid SMR projects.  The plan allocates non-capital expenditures of," and it's blank, "towards OPG's portion of funding for this demonstrator reactor."


If I understand what it says, OPG has plans for SMRs across Canada and beyond.  Does OEB's jurisdiction extend outside of Ontario, across Canada and beyond?

MS. LADAK:  What we're talking about here is off-grid reactors, which are not part of the new nuclear development variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  Would you agree the cost of advancing these plants should not be booked in OEB approved variance account?

MS. LADAK:  Yeah.  OPG is not booking those costs into the variance account.  This is for off-grid work.

MR. LADANYI:  Right.  And so no costs, no development costs, no licensing costs, nothing is being booked into the variance account?  You're making that commitment now, or is this something you're considering?

MS. LADAK:  No, we're not recording -- yes, we're making that commitment that we're not recording those costs in the variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's turn to tab 5 now, and this is an excerpt from the June 2021 report by the World Nuclear Association.  Unfortunately, the report was not paginated so I can't give you page numbers.  I only quote three sections from the report.  It should be fairly straightforward.  I'm sorry your counsel was upset that he had to send the letter to me, but anyway I think this is pretty straightforward I don't think there should be any concerns here.

First on page 14, if you look further down the page please, the reason why I've got this page up is that I want to have a common understanding of what is an SMR, what is a small modular reactor.  And this is the definition by the World Nuclear Association.
"Small modular reactors are defined as nuclear reactors generally 300 megawatts equivalent or less, designed with modular technology using module factory fabrication, pursuing economies of series production and short construction times."  

Do you agree with this definition of the World Nuclear Association, or do you have a different one?

MS. LADAK:  This is the commonly accepted definition.  I don't disagree with that.

MR. LADANYI:  By the way, is OPG a member of the World Nuclear Association?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, OPG is, I believe.

MR. LADANYI:  This definition talks about economies of series production.  Do you agree with me that this definition contemplates that many SMRs would have to be built to achieve such economies?

MS. LADAK:  Multiples would typically have to be built, but it also depends on the size of the SMR, the generation it's able to produce.  It depends on the specific technology.  There's various ways to get economies of scale.  But building multiples is a good one to get economies of scale.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you turn to tab 6?  This is a second excerpt from that report -- a very interesting report, by the way -- on small modular reactors, and this is the section that talks about Canadian support which starts on page 17 of my compendium for SMRs.  Yes, Canadian support and -- the entire section is about Canadian support.  And I have highlighted two parts of this, both because they talk about OPG.

So there are two initiatives I can see there.  The first one says:

"The Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission has been conducting pre-licensing vendor designed reviews -- an optional service to assess a nuclear power plant design based on a vendor's reactor technology -- for 10 small reactors with capacities in the range of 3-300 megawatts equivalent.  Two further agreements for design review are being negotiated for StarCore's HTR and Westinghouse's eVinci.  In May 2021 it commenced a formal licence review of the 15 megawatt MMR-5 for Global First Power (a joint venture between Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation and Ontario Power Generation)."


What is described here -- are any costs of this initiative being booked, or you plan to book them in the nuclear development variance account?

MS. LADAK:  No costs have been booked in the account for this venture, and no costs are planned to be booked in this account.  This Global First Power is a separate legal entity that has its own employees, so they are not part of this.  And any OPG employees that provide support to Global First Power, they would actually be having an agreement between Global First Power, so it's not really an OPG cost.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  But OPG is in competition with other providers here, so this is kind of a competitive environment as far as I read this document.  Is that right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's go to the second quote on this page further down.  
"In June 2017, Canadian Nuclear Laboratories invited expressions of interest in SMRs.  This resulted in many responses, including 19 for siting a demonstration or prototype reactor at a CNL-managed site.  CNL aims to have a new SMR at its Chalk River site by 2026.  Global First Power with its partners Ontario Power Generation and Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation was the first to get to the third stage of CNL's siting evaluation, with its MMR, a 5 megawatt HTR."


Are any costs of this competitive, let's say, venture included in the nuclear development variance account?

MS. LADAK:  No costs are included for this venture in our variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  Let's turn to the next page, which is page 18, to the bottom.  
"In October 2020, Ontario Power Generation announced that it would take forward engineering and design work with three developers of grid-scale SMRs -- GE Hitachi, Terrestrial Energy and X-energy -- to support remote area energy needs."


Are any of those costs going to be booked in the nuclear development variance account?

MS. LADAK:  I would like to clarify.  I've seen this article previously and you sent it to us as well, Mr. Ladanyi.  OPG did not receive a copy of this article from the World Nuclear Association before it was filed, so this statement here is incorrect.  These vendors are companies that we're working with looking at look at an SMR at Darlington.  But these are not the vendors being considered for off-grid by OPG.

MR. LADANYI:  I hope you will correct that with the next issue of the report by the World Nuclear Association.  But I'm more interested in the cost.  So this initiative is, then, as I understand what you say, is proceeding, but not with those partners.  Is that right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  So again, there is no costs associated with this work with Global First Power in our variance account.  But the grid scale SMR developers that it mentions, those ones are part of the variance account.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you explain that?  I'm missing that distinction.

MS. LADAK:  Okay.  So OPG is working with three developers looking at an SMR at Darlington.  So the three developers are GE Hitachi, Terrestrial Energy, and X-energy.  But it is not to support remote area energy needs; it is just for Darlington.

MR. LADANYI:  That would only be for your own use.   OPG would not leverage this work with GE Hitachi and Terrestrial Energy into some kind of competitive business that would provide it to other provinces, let's say, like Saskatchewan so on.  Is that what you're saying?

MS. MacDONALD:  At this point in time I think it's too early to speculate whether there would be an opportunity to leverage such technology, given that there has been no decision made to pick a technology and given that there are no other certain opportunities beyond Ontario at this point in time.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you tell me, what is a pre-licensing vendor design review?  What would that be?

MS. LADAK:  So typically you need to get licenses from the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission to develop your site, perform construction, and operate your station.  In this case, because these are new technologies through the small modular reactors, the CNSC, Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, has set up a process where they are allowing technology developers to come to them and provide them with information about their technology to see if it would be feasible to be licensed in Canada.  So that simplifies your process, the process down the road which you have to get your licence.  They will just give you some initial feedback.  They give the developer some initial feedback on the licensability of their reactors.

MR. LADANYI:  And those pre-licensing costs are only related to SMR Darlington, the costs that you are going to book into the account, not -- they're not related to any pre-licensing of any SMR anywhere else; is that right?

MS. LADAK:  So this work that these developers are doing, this portion, which is like the -- this vendor design review for this work, this is solely on the account of the vendors, not on OPG's account.  We do have -- we are doing work with the vendors to look at how licensing at Darlington will work, but this is just for their technology in general, so OPG is not paying for those costs.

MR. LADANYI:  So you're not being charged at all, and it's nothing -- so there is nothing to be booked in the account?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So can you turn to tab 7, please, and this is my last excerpt from the World Nuclear Association report, and it's a series of tables.  They're copied in their entirety.  And the reason why I'm showing you these is that they are -- you can scroll down a bit more.  I would say they demonstrate that this is a very evolving technology.  There are many vendors, and it's a competitive market.  Would you agree with me that that's what's going on?

MS. LADAK:  I would agree SMRs -- there's a competitive market for SMRs.

MR. LADANYI:  And OPG, from what we just covered in your evidence, is planning to be some kind of competitor, but you're not going to book any costs of this work to become a competitor in this business, to be a vendor of something in this business, in the nuclear development variance account; is that right?

MS. LADAK:  The only costs, yes, that -- that is right.  The only costs we're recording in the account are specific to Darlington.

MR. LADANYI:  When you ask for actually that -- to clear the account, we will have to look through that and check your -- whether that's correct, but I'll accept that for now.

So we'll skip tab 8, because I think we discussed it a bit already.  Just give me a moment.  I'm trying to finish my cross-examination before lunch.

So can you turn to tab 9, please, which is on page 27.  And this is an excerpt from your Exhibit H1, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 31.  So in the last paragraph he talks about the licence for nuclear, a new build, and he mentions licence by CNSC for nuclear new build.  I asked you this before, but I want to have it absolutely confirmed.  That licence was for an advanced CANDU reactor; is that not right?  And you can take an undertaking if you're not sure.  Because when the licence was given there was no SMR.  Nobody even talked about SMRs.  And OPG, as far as I can recollect, was proposing to build an advanced CANDU reactor at Darlington; is that right?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, are you asking an undertaking to clarify the licence applicability?  Is that what you're asking?

MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  What is the licence for?

MR. KEIZER:  It may be better to take that as an undertaking to clarify the licence.


MR. LADANYI:  Of course.  If you want to actually file the licence, that will be fine as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm hearing that as an undertaking, so J1.4.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO CLARIFY THE NUCLEAR NEW BUILD LICENCE APPLICABILITY, WHAT IS THE LICENSE FOR, AND TO FILE THE LICENCE.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  And I'm going to have just one general confirmation question from you, and then I'll be finished.

Does OPG need permission from the OEB to book any costs into the nuclear development variance account?  This is your interpretation.  I'm just asking you what you think.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm sorry, Ms. MacDonald.  I think you're on mute.

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, I caught myself, thank you.  Under section 541 of O.Reg. 53/05, OPG can record variances in the NDVA.

MR. LADANYI:  Without permission from the OEB?

MS. MacDONALD:  That's correct, yes.  However, we would then have to seek recovery of those balances, which would be subject to the OEB's approval being satisfied that those costs were prudently incurred.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you for that answer, and these are all my questions.  Thank you, Panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Ladanyi.  Given the hour -- it's 12:25 -- we'll take our lunch break for 45 minutes.  Let's meet at a quarter to 1:00.  No, is that quarter to -- I'm not very good with math, apparently --12:30, then it's 1:15.  And according to the schedule, it was SEC was supposed to go next, so perhaps they can be ready to proceed at that point.  And, all right.  Thank you very much, and we'll take our morning break -- our morning lunch break.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:27 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:19 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Welcome back, everybody.  I can see Mr. Shepherd has his camera on.  Any preliminary matters we need to deal with, Mr. Keizer?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, just one.  It's my understanding that Ms. Ladak has one clarification from this morning, so if I can ask her to provide that before Mr. Shepherd goes.

MS. LADAK:  Thank you very much.  I'd just like to go back to the response to Mr. Anderson's question regarding the 0.7 million, which is in F2, tab 8, schedule 1, page 2.  It is included in the 166-million-dollar forecast of the nuclear development variance account, and I would like the record to show that it's not included, that it's not included in that.  And I believe there was some confusion, so I want to clarify it is not included.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that.  Mr. Shepherd, do you want to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will not be long.  I want to just make sure I understand -- the issue is very narrow, so I want to make sure I understand what the components are of the things that OPG thinks should go in the NDVA and indeed what you've been booking in the NDVA so far.

So the first thing is with respect to SMRs, of course.  The first thing is it has to be for planning and preparation for development of SMRs, right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No capital costs?


MS. MacDONALD:  Excuse me, could you repeat that?  I couldn't hear you clearly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It can only be non-capital costs; right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But actually everything right now is non-capital costs, because you don't have an approval to build anything yet, right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't matter whether SMRs are ultimately prescribed facilities.  True?  It doesn't matter, Ms. MacDonald, whether the SMRs are ultimately prescribed facilities; the planning and preparation for development of those is still included in the NDVA, correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it doesn't include all SMRs, right?   So for example, it only includes those in Ontario, yes?

MS. MacDONALD:  It only includes costs relating to the planning and preparation for an SMR at Darlington.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's only includes on-grid, not off-grid?


MS. MacDONALD:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, all the money you're spending -- I don't know how much it is, but on the Chalk River joint venture, that's not included?

MS. MacDONALD:  That is not included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's not going to be?


MS. MacDONALD:  No, it's not going to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you end up having a business, whether it's regulated or not, exporting SMRs, all that stuff to prepare for that, that's not included?

MS. MacDONALD:  No, it's not included.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have three developers or manufacturers, I guess, proponents, that you have been looking at for supplying these, Hitachi, Terra Power I think the second one is, and X-energy; is that right?

MS. LADAK:  It's GE Hitachi, X-energy and Terrestrial, not Terra Power.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Close enough.  And for those, you have spent some money selecting them, right?  Which is in this account?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they're paying for their costs to get qualified by the CNSC, right?  You're not paying for that?

MS. LADAK:  We are not paying for their costs to get qualified, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can I ask -- can you go to Staff Interrogatory 248, which is -- for convenience, it's in K1.1, that's the AMPCO compendium, at page 7 of the PDF.  Take a look at that, please.  Maybe somebody can bring it up on the screen.  Awesome.

So in question B, it refers to $190 million spent already on technology developer selection.  That's not the right number anymore, right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that is no longer the number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the right number is, or can you give us a ballpark?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I can.  It's about 100 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that's to choose the three, GE Hitachi, Terrestrial and X-energy, right?

MS. LADAK:  That is correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That seems like an expensive process.  Was there something other than an RFP that happened in that?

MS. LADAK:  This work was not done through an RFP process.  And I'm not sure again how this relates to the costs that are being recorded in the account.  These are part of our planning and preparation costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the cost that you recorded in the account.  I'm trying to understand what the nature of that cost is, so that I can understand what the scope is of the things you believe should go in the NDVA.  So if it was a procurement process, just a brief summary of what that is would help us understand what the scope is of what you think should go in there.

MS. LADAK:  What we've done is we've looked at a variety of similar technology developers.  There's a significant number and we narrowed it down to a smaller number and last year in 2020 we did a due diligence process with about I believe it was about six developers just to see if they would fit in terms of like the Darlington site, if they would work for that site, trying to understand their costs, ability to be licensed in Canada, the type of fuel they use, a variety of different factors, environmental factors and so on.  That was one piece of the work we did.  

And the next piece we've been doing since the fourth quarter of last year, and it's continued on this year is to take a look at further details around the three that we've mentioned that we're working with now, is to get additional details from them in terms of full schedule, a good cost estimate, doing a financial review, looking at their engineering, their design and how it's progressing, looking at the safety.  A variety of different things is what we're exploring.  So they're providing information to us in order to do that, and we're spending time within OPG to assess that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are OPG people?  You have a unit of people, I guess, that's working on this at OPG, right?

MS. LADAK:  It's a combination of OPG people, but cost for the developers to provide information to us as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have been paying them provide you with information as well?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These are all non-capital costs.  But you'll agree with me, won't you, that if you build anything, that does not get included in the NDVA because if you build anything, whether you approved it or not, if you built something it's capital, right?

MS. LADAK:  That is correct, yeah.  Once we make the decision to build something, the costs would become capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, I said exactly the opposite.  What I said was if you build something, regardless of whether you make a decision to proceed with an SMR, if you build something it's still capital, yes?


MS. LADAK:  Yeah, if we build an asset that has future benefits, yes, it would be capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that can't be put in the NDVA?

MS. LADAK:  The NDVA is for non-capital costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  You can still spend money on capital, right, but that would go into rate base and eventually, assuming it's prescribed, you would add it to rate base at your next proceeding, right?

MS. MacDONALD:  If I understand your question correctly, you said we could spend capital and it would go into rate base?  Did I hear that correctly?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. MacDONALD:  Currently for any capital we were to spend, no, that would not go into rate base at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MS. MacDONALD:  Because there is not a prescribed -- because an SMR at Darlington is not a prescribed asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  What I'm saying is if it's prescribed, then it goes into rate base when it's in service, right?  Regardless of what the OEB says, it's in rate base, it's then at a subsequent proceeding the OEB then has to determine whether to add it to rates, right?

MS. MacDONALD:  Correct.  If it were to be a prescribed asset, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The one other thing I want to ask about this is, this all talks in theory, but you'll agree that the actual costs that you put in the account, whether you've already done so or you're going to do so, those are still subject to testing against -- at a clearance proceeding, they're still subject to testing by the OEB to determine, A, if they qualify, and B, if they're prudent, correct?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just wanted to ask one other thing.  I know you've given an undertaking on this, Ms. Ladak, but I'm going to ask you anyway, because I think it's actually -- the answer may be obvious or more obvious than you think.  You were talking about firm financial commitments, and when you sign an agreement, it doesn't matter what the NDVA says.  You can't book that as an expense from an accounting point of view, can you?  You have to actually -- the agreement has to be performed so that you can approve something, yes?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that was what I was trying to explain to Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the only time something would go into the -- into the NDVA on the basis of a firm financial commitment would be when you've made the commitment and accrued an expense that then had to go somewhere from an accounting point of view.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that is correct, yes, and we will provide that response in our -- to our undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have -- oh, and, yeah, I wanted to ask one other question.  The three vendors, they're getting CNSC qualification.  You're not paying anything associated with them getting qualified, right?

MS. LADAK:  For their pre -- the pre-vendor design review that they're doing, we're not paying for that.  But we would be paying for the costs associated with getting a license for Darlington, ultimately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Once they're selected?

MS. LADAK:  I'm not certain about that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Next on the list of the schedule, it was VECC, Mr. Garner.  Are you ready to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I am ready to proceed.  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Garner, and I'm a consultant with VECC.  We've covered a lot of ground today, but just a few things that I want to clarify.  One is, you were talking about the allocated people working on this, Ms. Ladak, and I think in the response to an interrogatory by AMPCO you responded that in 2020 there are 14.8 FTEs and in 2021 there are 52.8 FTEs associated with these costs; is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. GARNER:  And again, following up with some that other people asked you, I'm trying to get an image in my head about what let's call it in 2021 52 people are in essence doing.  Is there a unit of people?  I know you said there were some allocations, but is there a unit of people dedicated to what I'm going to call the assessment of these SMR technologies?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, there is a unit of people that's working on nuclear development.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So in essence, I know you have three different type of costs, but I'm just going to in generality say that there are really two types of costs you're dealing with.  One is the assessment of technologies and the other is ensuring the Darlington site is able to license one of those technologies on that site you have.  Is that basically what's going on?

MS. LADAK:  That -- in addition to that, it's also trying to get an understanding of the costs, as well as their ability -- in addition to licensing, we're looking at safety.  There's a variety of things that we're looking at, so it's not just those two things.  There's a number of things that have to be done.

MR. GARNER:  Would it be fair to say that part is to look at the -- in addition to assessing the technologies, you are looking at what the costs of running those technologies might be on the Darlington site for that -- for those units?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we're looking at -- exactly.  We're looking at the construction costs, we're looking at the operating costs.  We're looking at a whole number of different things.

MR. GARNER:  Now, one of the things I'm a little confused at too about these three developers, these technology developers, as I understand it, these technologies can be quite different, and they're different basically in two fundamental ways.  They're different in the moderators that are being used and they're different in the fuels that are being used, and those make quite a big difference to how you operate and the cost of things.  Is that roughly correct?

MS. LADAK:  I'm not a technical expert, but those are some of the key differences between the technologies, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And it's not clear to me this -- these monies that you have booked into this account, it's not clear to me as how these monies -- how you're associated with these entities.  Is it the -- is it the goal of this exercise to have a partnership?  Or is this a goal of purchasing a technology?  I'm not clear which goal you're doing.  What's your objective?

MS. LADAK:  At this point we're just trying to determine if we want to pursue an SMR at the Darlington site.  We're looking at some commercial types of questions that you're asking, so that's part of the work that we're doing right now as well, so I don't have an answer to your question at this time.

MR. GARNER:  And for this account are there more amounts to be booked in this in the years following 2022, '23, et cetera, until there is a finality to this exercise?  Is that the plan?

MS. MacDONALD:  At this point we only have forecast costs for 2020 and 2021, and we really can't speculate on what costs would look like beyond that time period until a decision is made as to whether there will be an SMR at Darlington or not.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And that's part of what also I'm a bit confused at is to the eligibility of using the account, and at the risk of having my friend Mr. Keizer interject that I'm making a legal argument, I'm not a lawyer, so it would be impossible for me to make that argument, but in the regulation it does say, as I understand it in 5.4(1), it says "for the planning and preparation for the development of", and I'm going to emphasize "of proposed new nuclear generation."

Now, as I understand, no proposed facilities -- there are no proposed facilities.  You have yet to go to your board of directors, yet to go to a shareholder to propose anything.  You're actually exploring technologies right now, aren't you?  You're not proposing anything.  Did I miss something?

MS. MacDONALD:  We are exploring and doing the planning and preparatory work in order to propose an SMR at Darlington.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So to emphasize your words, in order to propose something.  You have yet to propose something to anybody, anybody in the sense of running your [audio dropout] at OPG.  Nothing has been proposed yet.

MS. MacDONALD:  If you mean to our board of directors for approval or to our shareholder for approval, the answer is no.

MR. GARNER:  And again, at the risk of treading into areas that I shouldn't, let me suggest to you that the word "proposed" was purposely put there, and the idea being that in fact the proposal allows the regulator or anybody to have a scope of what should be going into the account.  So in a sense I'm suggesting is, have you put the horse before the cart?  You're doing it the other way around.  You are developing a proposal and asking for that to go into the account.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the interpretation of what "proposed" means I think is going back to where we were before, which is, you know, the interpretation of the regulation, which I think is a point of argument.  And, you know, my friend is trying to elicit that argument, you know, through the witness.  I think it's fine to ask the questions related to the nature of the costs, the kinds of costs, whatever else.  I think it's Mr. Garner to then argue as to what he understands the regulation to be and then to propose that, the same as OPG at some point will argue what it intends to be.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, and I expected that response.  What I would like to make sure of is that I give your witnesses an opportunity to respond to that concept, in order to maybe inform me that I'm missing something here in the sense that there is not a proposal.  But if there isn't, then I'm happy to move on.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the witness has already indicated what they understand or what the current circumstance is, what that means in terms of proposal because planning and preparation is for purposes of putting forward the new nuclear.  So I think that's again subject to argument.

MR. GARNER:  Let's move on.  The other thing that strikes me as I look at this -- and I know, Ms. Ladak, you said you're not an expert in the technology, and neither am I.  But as I understand it, first of all there are small reactors in lots of places.  Ships have small reactors; that's not a novelty.  The novelty apparently, as I understand it in this technology, is the modular form.  

And the concept of the modular form, at least as I understand it, is it is the ability to try and extract economies of scale for nuclear energy building in a sense that it's not using that concentration as you have it now at a plant like Darlington.  So instead of one Darlington, you have 40 small nuclear reactors and it's the modular form, to use the analogy, it’s like a modular home that gets built quick, it’s easy, and moves on to the next one, and that's the economic argument for it.  Is that the way you understand it?

MS. LADAK:  Yes that's part of it.  I don't want to forget the aspect of the small.  It's small and modular, and I feel like you're focusing just on the modular.  So it's both components, small and modular.


MR. GARNER:  I don't want to over simplify.  My only point was that an aircraft carrier has a small nuclear reactor in it.  So there are small reactors around, but to make energy efficient, you have to have some economies of scale.

But the other risk, as I understand it, is that there is a technology battle as we were talking about going on or technology to be chosen, right, between moderators and fuel.  Those are different technologies that have yet to be.  That's what you're assessing, isn't that right?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's one of the things we're assessing.

MR. GARNER:  So is it beyond the realm of possibility that there will never be a proposal put to OPG's board of directors?  If one were to assess this and decide we have neither the economies of scale nor can we find the technology, therefore we're not going to the board of directors to propose anything?

MS. LADAK:   Yes, that's a possibility.  We would only go forward if we have a good business case, which is what we're in the process of developing right now.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  One other thing and this came from Mr. Ladanyi and then Mr. Shepherd's examination, and maybe you can help me.  I'm a little confused as to -- I understand the answer you made about Chalk River, the micro project, and the SMR project, that they were not being -- the micro project at Chalk River was not being put into the account.

What I'm getting confused at is OPG's involvement in picking a technology and at the same time seeming to be into the business of multiple SMRs, because whether they're off grid or on grid, I would take it as at lot of the value or economics in this comes from building many of the same type of units.

Can you help me with the link between what goes on at Chalk River and what's going on with your assessment of the technology for Darlington?

MS. LADAK:  They're not related.  So the Chalk River technology is off grid, so that would be opportunities like for the mining sector, for Indigenous communities; that's one line of business.  And the on grid is what we're looking at at Darlington.

MR. GARNER:  Maybe the way to clarify it in my own head, Ms. Ladak, is, are the three partners you're working with for Darlington’s SMR, are they at all involved in the Chalk River micro project?

MS. LADAK:  No, they're not involved in that project.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Next on the agenda is the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators, Ms. DeJulio.  There she is.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeJulio:


MS. De JULIO:  Thank you very much, panel.  My name is Gia DeJulio and I'm representing OAPPA.  I have a few questions related to customer engagement.  Sometimes we call it stakeholder consultation, and I think OPG might refer to it as a customer engagement process.

Can you please explain what stakeholder consultation plan OPG has for the SMR project as it has been defined in the evidence?

MS. MacDONALD:  Yes.  Actually, since 2006, OPG has had in place an extensive public engagement program with respect to Indigenous communities, the public, and other stakeholders.  And OPG will continue to have in place such a program for purposes of educating the broader public, and also taking into consideration the priorities of nearby communities and also proximate Indigenous communities.

MS. De JULIO:  Okay.  Do you have any expected costs, then, for these stakeholder consultation processes?  And, if you do, have they already been included in the budget in F2 11, table I?

MS. LADAK:  Costs associated with stakeholder consultation are included in the costs.

MS. De JULIO:  I'm sorry, Ms. Ladak.  I missed the ending of that question.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, those customer -- sorry, stakeholder consultation costs are included.

MS. De JULIO:  They are included.

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MS. De JULIO:  Thank you.  Can you break those out, or is it immaterial, or is it not something you have in front of you?

MS. LADAK:  I don't have it in front of me.  In the grand scheme of things, those would not be the large costs.

MS. De JULIO:  May I please ask the OEB staff to pull up an ad that I provided yesterday for the panel to take a boo at?  It's an advertisement by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance, and it's very alarming.  I opened up my local Etobicoke Guardian a few weeks ago and saw this ad by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance, and frankly, I wondered if OPG has seen this and perhaps this might be the first time you saw it was yesterday.

Have you had a chance to go and look at the website?  It's called NoGTAReactor.ca by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance, and so, OPG, what is your opinion on this advertisement and this website?  And then, what is your response to this?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know how this is relevant to the recording of the costs.  Ontario Clean Air Alliance can have whatever opinion they want and publish whatever they want.  I'm not sure why it's relevant as to OPG's view of what OCAA is doing and what it's publishing or what comment it's making.

MS. De JULIO:  The reason why I'm going down this path, Mr. Keizer, is I'm wondering how this might increase costs for OPG if there are -- if this is raising alarms, if this is raising a lot of concerns by stakeholders and by citizens, perhaps located in the area, if OPG is seeing, you know, increased traffic to their own site, if they're seeing -- if they're getting concerns being expressed to them, is this taking them off their path?  Is this increasing costs for them?  And presumably these costs would be booked to the NDVA.

MR. KEIZER:  I think we've already established the nature of these costs are included within the budget that OPG has indicated in evidence.  I'm not sure -- ultimately at the end of the day, your argument I guess is whether those costs are legitimately recorded in the account, and the witnesses have already indicated that costs will vary plus or minus relative to the 166 anyway.

So I'm not quite sure.  In my view, it's not relevant as to whether or not this particular ad has an impact or non-impact on people's responses or their potential costs.

MS. De JULIO:  Okay.  The OPG is not going to answer whether they have had any response by concerned citizens to this.  

Okay.  I have one more question.  It's Robin Manley, your VP of new nuclear development at OPG, he spoke at a Globe & Mail June 29 online event called Nuclear Energy:  What Does the Future Hold?  He said that OPG has a micro-project on the go now plus a grid-scale project on the go, and OPG needs to figure out licensing.

So could you please explain Mr. Manley's references to a micro project and a grid-scale project and just make sure that we understand how these are related or if they're different at all from the SMR project that we've -- we're exploring here.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I explained in the last set of questions, they are different processes, so the micro grid reactor at Chalk River, that's something OPG is working on in a joint venture through Global First Power.  It's off-grid, it's a test project, a commercial test project that we're doing for eventual use in the -- for heavy industry, mining industry, in the north, as well as Indigenous groups, and the one for Darlington is an on-grid reactor.

MS. De JULIO:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. DeJulio.  The Panel, does anybody have any questions on this?  Rather than breaking, I just thought I would ask.

MR. SARDANA:  I do not, Ms. Duff.

MR. JANIGAN:  I do not either.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Fine.  Mr. Keizer, do you have any redirect for this panel?

MR. KEIZER:  I do not, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Well, the panel is excused with the Panel's thanks.  Thank you very much.

Yes.  Well, we're ahead of schedule.  I understood from the earlier comments that OPG was prepared to start with panel number 2A.  Is that true?  Would you like a break, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  The -- I guess -- what time is it now?  It's now two o'clock.  I think the -- subject to our panel being online -- I think they are online -- we could proceed on and get started, take a break, whatever is convenient for you.

MS. DUFF:  No, I find two hours is kind of the maximum, but -- so let's keep going, and then we'll take a break when we need to.

MR. KEIZER:  All right.  Thank you.  Well, allow me then to introduce our panel for -- the D2O panel.  Mr. Peter Simpson.  They keep moving around on my screen, so I was trying to do them in order, but they seem to be -- it's like Hollywood Squares.  But anyway, so maybe at the bottom, Mr. Peter Simpson, Dietmar Reiner, and Mr. Gary Rose.  If I could ask them to be affirmed.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 2A, D2O STORAGE FACILITY

Peter Simpson,
Dietmar Reiner,
Gary Rose; Affirmed.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.
Direct Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  So I have a short direct.  And maybe I can start with you, Mr. Reiner.  You're senior vice-president, strategic project and contract execution; is that correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you briefly describe your area of responsibility and your involvement with the D2O project?

MR. REINER:  Yes, so currently in the role that you have described, Mr. Keizer, I act primarily in an advisory capacity on large strategic projects for OPG.  Prior to that, from early 2010 until end of 2020, I had accountability in OPG for the Darlington refurbishment program, and then towards the end of that tenure I had accountability for the enterprise projects organization at OPG that was accountable for all major high-risk high-cost projects.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And Mr. Rose, you're vice-president of planning enterprise projects organization; is that correct?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  And could you briefly describe your area of responsibility and your involvement with the D2O project?

MR. ROSE:  Certainly.  Since 2008 I've been involved in the Darlington refurbishment program, initially as director and eventually as vice-president of project planning and project controls.  My core role was to support the planning and oversight of the Darlington refurbishment program, which included oversight of the campus plan projects, including the D2O heavy water project.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And Mr. Simpson, you're senior director of balance of plant, shutdown, lay-up, steam generators, and special projects; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. KEIZER:  That's a very long title.  Could you briefly describe your area of responsibility, maybe hopefully shorter than your title is, but briefly describe the area of your responsibility and your involvement in the D2O project?

MR. SIMPSON:  First the D2O project.  I was the project director from 2017 onward, with overall responsibility with execution, as well as coordination of the project itself.  In 2020 on I -- as my title suggests, I am the senior project director of the balance of plant projects, which consists of about 27 projects in the refurb umbrella.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  So OPG filed an exhibit called Exhibit A1, tab 9, Schedule 1.  That exhibit included a table which set out the panel which you are, 2A, and all of the exhibits, interrogatories, and undertakings that were applicable to this panel.  And maybe if I can ask each of you in turn, do you adopt as your evidence the pre-filed evidence, interrogatories, and undertakings identified at Exhibit A1, tab 9, Schedule 1 that are applicable to the D2O project and the related issues set out in that exhibit?  Mr. Reiner?

MR. REINER:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rose?

MR. ROSE:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Simpson?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. KEIZER:  And one other question is to you, Mr. Simpson.  So it's my understanding you've been involved in the preparation of a short video which is about seven minutes in length which outlines the physical [audio dropout] and what was that video prepared under your [audio dropout]?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, you broke up there for --


MR. KEIZER:  Was the video prepared [audio dropout]?

MR. SIMPSON:  Once again --


[Reporter appeals.]

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can you hear me now?

MR. SIMPSON:  We can hear you, but it breaks up, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  I'm sorry.  Give it another try and -- sorry, let me see if I can -- you can hear me now; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Perfect.  Wonderful.  Anyway, solar rays, obviously, or sun spots that would be from.  But my question then, going back to Mr. Simpson, is my understanding is you have prepared a short video, a seven-minute video, setting out the physical aspects of the D2O project, just the facility itself.  Was that video prepared under your guidance?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it was.

MR. KEIZER:  And if I may, Madam Chair, I would ask that that video be played now.  It represents really the physical aspects of the facility, its layout, which will provide a better understanding, I think, when we get into the technical aspects of the facility.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, the Panel was advised of the video to be played.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  So if we can proceed with that now.

[Video played]


MR. KEIZER:  I think we have a problem with the audio.  I'm sorry -- best laid plans.  It seems we have a technical glitch.  Maybe it would be a good time for a break.  

[Video played]


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair, those are my questions for the panel now available for cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Looking at the schedule, the first party up for cross-examination is Power Workers' Union.  Mr. Stevenson, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. STEVENSON:  Good afternoon.  I am ready to proceed.  I did want to however just comment on a matter relating to scheduling.

We got the schedule late yesterday and I was put first, and that would not be a problem to my mind, except to this extent.  I'm not sure whether this came about as a result of Board Staff or someone else, but clearly some kind of distinction is sought to be drawn with respect to the status of my client in this proceeding, as distinct from anybody else.  And someone has come to the conclusion that it is somehow appropriate that we proceed first.  And in my submission, I just don't know what the basis for that is.  This issue has come up from time to time, and from time to time the Board has ruled with respect to compensation issues as appropriate that PWU should proceed first.  To my knowledge, it hasn't come up in any other context and, frankly, in my submission, it is not appropriate that there is somehow a different standard applied to my client with respect to other participants in this proceeding.  

It seems to me that my client is an intervenor.  It brings a particular interest to this case.  Each of the other parties are ostensibly bringing a particular interest to this case, and it would appear that somehow a different standard is being applied to my client.  

And as I say, I am prepared to proceed now.  I'm not seeking any ruling from anybody about this, but I do want it noted that I don't understand the basis for it.  I don't think it's acceptable.  And insofar as the Board wants to do anything about it, I invite them to do so, but it does strike me as, that there is something has gone on which I don't understand and I don't accept.

MS. DUFF:  I hear you.  Mr. Millar, you put your camera on.

MR. MILLAR:  Only if you need to hear from me, Ms. Duff.  I'm in the Panel's hands.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I think Mr. Stephenson's comments are noted, and this Panel is prepared to hear all cross-examination equally.  So please proceed, Mr. Stephenson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Commissioner.

Panel, I intend to proceed at a very high level.  I don't intend to take you to any documents in my examination.  Obviously, if you feel the need to refer to something you should feel free to do so.  But I am anticipating that you are likely to be able to answer at a level of generality that is commensurate with the questions I ask.

The first thing I want to do is to take you back to the decision of the Board in the last case, and you may recollect in that case there was an issue regarding some other projects, particularly the auxiliary heating system and the operation support building.

Do you have a general recollection of the fact that those were at issue and the Board did give some reasons about some disallowances in conjunction with those projects?

MR. REINER:  Mr. Stevenson, I do have a recollection, but I need to just state that those projects were dealt with by the nuclear panel and not Darlington refurbishment panel.  And I don't know that we have got witnesses on this panel that would be able to provide any sort of insights on those projects.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, let me ask you the question, and then if you're not comfortable providing an answer, by all means tell me that.

But in that decision the Board makes certain findings regarding two categories of items that it concluded led to some cost increases.  One was increases with respect to scope on the one hand and the other was issues with respect to the management of the projects on the other.  And the Board made a rough and ready assessment of those two items and attributed about 50 percent of the responsibility for the increased cost to each of those two categories of items.  You're aware of that finding; is that fair?

MR. REINER:  I am aware that those two items did lead to disallowances.  I can't speak to the details, whether it was a 50-50 split or not and how specifically that might have been applied.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I don't need you to confirm that.  It's fair to say in the review of the D2O project there are -- again, there are some changes in scope issues, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, there are issues related to changes in scope on the D2O project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And there's also issues related to OPG's management of the overall project, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, there were challenges encountered in the management of the project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And I want to focus on the second of those two in some of my questions here as distinct from the scoping issues.

One of the management challenges that you had to deal with was in your selection and oversight of your primary contractors, correct?

MR. REINER:  That is something that needed to be tackled; that is correct.  With respect to issues related to that, I would need to see the specific questions you have.  But definitely one of the tasks that management needed to execute was selection of contractors and to oversee contractor performance.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And one of the benefits that we have now is that we are able to exercise some hindsight about some of these issues, and I appreciate that you didn't have that benefit at the front end, but we now know that you wound up having some significant issues with respect to your initial contract with Black & MacDonald that led to their termination ultimately, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct, and that's laid out in the evidence.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, my question is this:  Have you now had the opportunity to reflect upon the process by which you ultimately selected Black & MacDonald at the outset as the prime contractor?

MR. REINER:  That is an area that we have reflected on, but I would say that we would not necessarily change anything in that regard.  Black & MacDonald was a qualified contractor, fully capable and qualified under OPG's quality program to execute projects of this nature, of the nature of the D2O storage facility.  It was a process that was executed through our supply-chain procurement process that established a set of criteria for selection, and all of that was followed.

So to the extent that there are lessons learned related to those activities, yes, we would have looked at those and incorporated those into our processes, but we would not necessarily have changed anything as a result.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then we do know that there comes a point in time where Black & MacDonald engagement is terminated, and so a question also arises whether that was a prudent decision, bearing in mind you -- I assume you understood that the termination of that engagement would necessarily involve some delay and some cost.

And are you satisfied that that was a prudent decision?

MR. REINER:  I am satisfied that that was a very prudent decision.  It became apparent that Black & MacDonald was not going to be able to provide the certainty that OPG was looking for with respect to schedule for completing the project and final cost for completing the project, and ultimately those were -- those issues were at the core of OPG's decision to select another contractor.

MR. STEVENSON:  Right, and we know that you ultimately selected CanAtom after a process, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENSON:  And you did also encounter some issues with CanAtom downstream, post-selection, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, there were issues encountered with CanAtom as well.

MR. STEVENSON:  And does that reflect badly on your selection process?

MR. REINER:  I don't believe that reflects badly on the selection process.  If you look at CanAtom, CanAtom is a joint venture comprised of Aecon Group and SNC Lavalin.  Aecon Group is the largest publicly traded construction company in Canada.  SNC Lavalin everybody knows well.  These are contractors that know how to do these types of projects.

So I think in terms of selection, they were the right contractor to select.  The challenges in my view speak more to the complexities associated with constructing this specific project.

MR. STEVENSON:  Let me take you now to a different issue.  One of the items that led to the costs that were ultimately encountered was the siting of the facility in a particular location, and that had certain cost impacts which are described in the evidence.  You talk about the tightly constrained access issues, for example.  There's the hydrogeological issues and other issues related to siting, correct?  The particular locale added, in some respects, to the cost of the facility, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, the site did add complexities to construction, which therefore added costs to construction.

MR. STEVENSON:  Right.  And there was a process that was undertaken at the front end where various sites were considered, which led to the selection of the particular site here, correct?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENSON:  My question again is -- this is sort of a two-part question, but the first part is with the benefit of hindsight, was it worth it in terms of the siting decision?  Do the benefits of the siting outweigh the costs that were associated with that decision?

MR. REINER:  The answer is yes, the benefits outweigh the costs.  Even with hindsight and what we now know as we experienced about the complexities of constructing the facility where it is located, those costs are far outweighed by the benefits of having this facility adjacent to the tritium removal facility and heavy water management building at the site.  So the location is quite critical.  And in order to satisfy all the requirements that this project needed to deliver, selection of one of those other sites would have added significant costs.

MR. STEVENSON:  Okay.  Just moving on, one of the things that you do in your evidence is, at the end of it, review your lessons learned.  And I believe you list four lessons learned and as I understood them, the first was that OPG should develop design requirements internally.  Do you recall that's one of your lessons learned?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENSON:  And I guess the question I have for you is why is this a lesson learned in the sense of why wasn't this something that you knew beforehand, as opposed to having something you learned as a result?

MR. REINER:  What I would tell you in that regard is the construct that this project was executed under is a model where the selected vendor provides engineering procurement and construction services.  The engineering constitutes the design effort.


And I would characterize this as -- there a grey zone between sort of a high-level set of requirements and a very detailed specification that's needed to ultimately execute the design of a project.  And in some cases, it is quite appropriate to have a contractor develop those detailed specifications for you under obviously a review type of process that OPG would undertake.  In other cases -- and the D2O storage facility is one, and as are many projects undertaken under the Darlington refurbishment program -- the specificity of the requirements does become quite critical and it is more than efficient and effective for OPG to take that effort on and be fully accountable for it, and sort of remove from the equation this back and forth review process that takes place during that portion of a project.

Now, OPG would still utilize external capability to do that, and we typically do, but it is under a different model.  We might secure services of an engineering company, for example, to assist us directly, and directly augment our engineering capability.  But we found that depending on the project -- and the more complex projects are the places where you would move that sort of specific requirements definition into OPG, that is what we extracted.

MR. STEVENSON:  Right.  And just to be clear about this, I remember in both this case and prior cases, we've heard the acronym about an EPC, which is engineering, procurement and construction, I believe.  So that's -- as I understand it, it's a well-known and accepted model for project acquisition, for lack of a better word.

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENSON:  And you're suggesting that in a particular kind of project, and this might be one of them, that you may have to modify that model to a degree to have greater in-house oversight of the design?

MR. REINER:  And greater in-house oversight as you indicated, Mr. Stevenson, and also a significant amount of collaboration between the folks that provide that specification and the folks that actually developed the detailed designs.  So that collaboration as well becomes an important factor.

MR. STEVENSON:  Right.  In fact, that was the fourth of the lessons learned, I believe, that's reflected in your evidence, which is an open, collaborative relationship with the contractor is essential for project execution.  That's what you just referred to?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEVENSON:  The other two, just to be clear, that you've indicated is that engineering should be completed prior to the preparation of a final estimate of project costs and beginning construction.  And my question here is the same question I had before.  Why was this a lesson learned and why wasn't it something you already knew?

MR. REINER:  The D2O storage facility was one of the first -- and may actually have been the first large construction undertaking that OPG undertook as part of the Darlington refurbishment program.

If you look prior -- at our project history prior to the Darlington refurbishment program, the projects are of a much smaller scale, typically to support modifications inside the power plants or to support maintenance-related activities.  So this was really the first -- the first undertaking of a large-scale project, and really the first undertaking of that EPC type construct in OPG's world.

And so this is where hindsight, you know, leads us to seeing a lot of valuable lessons, but there needed to be a starting point at some point, and this is one of -- there were several campus plan projects, and you'll recall from the prior hearing that there were other large-scale projects, and some of which also encountered problems, but at some point there needed to be a starting point, and all of that was the ramp-up that OPG needed to have to be able to successfully execute the Darlington refurbishment program.

So it's not that it wasn't known; it's the experience that needed to be gained that becomes an important factor.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the fourth lessons learned that you refer to in the evidence is that sufficient time must be allowed for execution of an FOA, first of a kind, project.  And I took that as a commentary on the time lines, as opposed to the cost.  Or is that comment applicable both with respect to time lines and cost, or is it really an
 explanation of why the project came in late, so to speak, relative to earlier estimates?

MR. REINER:  Mr. Stephenson, I would say that is applicable to both schedule and cost.  As you know, schedule and cost tend to be quite interrelated.  Something takes longer, it's not often that it costs less, but it takes longer to execute.  It can.  At times it does, but there tends to be a correlation between cost and schedule, so that lesson is applicable to both cost and schedule.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you very much, Panel.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

The next on-board was AMPCO/CCC.  Is that Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you hear me?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I can.  So it's the Panel's intent to maybe break at three o'clock, if you want to proceed, and then when it's appropriate time in your cross just let me know.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  That will be great, thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am on the record as counsel for CCC, but in the context of this cross-examination I'm doing joint work, working for two -- working for CCC and for AMPCO, so you only get to see one of us instead of two of us twice.  And I should apologize for anybody who was looking at my static picture in Zoom and said, that's not Michael Buonaguro, counsel for CCC, that was my wife.  I took her iPad for this, and I have no idea how to change the picture.  So my apologies.

I should start by going through our exhibit books and get them numbered, and there are a number of exhibits that we put forward for this panel in general.  And so if I can start, we have two exhibit books.  One of them is titled AMPCO and CCC compendium.  Can we have an exhibit number for that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, let's call that K1.3.  
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  AMPCO AND CCC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2A


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that has tabs 1 to 51, and for the person who is dealing with the display, the page numbers at the bottom of the page should line up with the PDF number, so if I say a page number, we can go to that PDF number and it should get you directly there.

And then there's a second book.  I think it's called book of evidence, AMPCO and CCC book of evidence.  Can we get an exhibit number for that?

MR. MILLAR:  K1.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  AMPCO AND CCC BOOK OF EVIDENCE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that has tabs 52 to 70.  So we tabbed them all the way through.  So if I say a tab number of a book and forget to say which book it's in, 1 to 51 is in book 1, which is K1.3, and tabs 52 to 70 are in K1.4.

Now, there are a number of separate exhibits that we filed separately.  Four of them are in those books already.  The reason that we separately identified them for the record is because technically they're new exhibits.  However, all of them are simply recasting of the evidence that's already on the record, just for presentation so it's easier to look at for the purposes of cross-examination.  But we should give exhibit numbers for those.

So the first one is, we'll call it AMPCO/CCC DRP schedule comparison.

MR. MILLAR:  That's K1.5. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  AMPCO/CCC DRP SCHEDULE COMPARISON.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for the record, that's the exhibit that shows up at tab 4 of the first compendium of evidence that's been filed, and the second will be AMPCO/CCC DRP drain fill schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.6. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  AMPCO/CCC DRP DRAIN FILL SCHEDULE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that appears at tab 5 of the book.  AMPCO CCC Bates cost table.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  AMPCO/CCC BATES COST TABLE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that appears at tab 50 of the first exhibit book.  And the last is AMPCO/CCC Bates overnight cost summary.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.8. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  AMPCO/CCC BATES OVERNIGHT COST SUMMARY.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that appears at tab 50 of the first book -- or, sorry, 51.  My apologies.

If you hear whispering in the background, Ms. Grice is assisting me, but you can't see her.  Okay.  That's K1.8.

And then lastly, we separately circulated the 2018 auditor general's report, which should have an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.9. 
EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  2018 AUDITOR GENERAL'S REPORT.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the reason we filed that separately is because it's -- you can download the document and you can distribute it, but you can't modify it in any way.  It's protected by the author.  So rather than mess around with that, we decided to file it separately.  I think it's actually referred to in several answers that OPG provided in interrogatories.  But I think, for the same reason that I can't add it to a book, they didn't include it as an IR response.  They provided the link.  So we have it as a separate exhibit for that reason.

So I'm going to quickly first while they're on top of mind, I have a few questions to follow up on the evidence you just gave before I forget them.

So Mr. Reiner, in response to Mr. Stephenson's questions about the process -- i.e., in terms of the process that you used to select B&M as the contractor -- I think you generally said you wouldn't change anything despite the results; is that fair?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's fair.  We wouldn't necessarily change anything.  Now, I will say in the selection of the -- so this is with the information that we had available at the time -- we would not necessarily change anything.  When we selected the contractor the second time through when SNC Aecon or CanAtom were selected, we did make an adjustment to the weighing factors, the criteria still had a technical component and the cost component, but the weightings were adjusted to reflect the technical complexity that we understood at that point in time and that we previously did not understand when Black & MacDonald were selected.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So in hindsight you would have changed the weighting of the technical versus cost factors in selecting the contractor, and you did in fact do that?

MR. REINER:  We selected it for selection of CanAtom, and it's somewhat a hypothetical question would we change it if we knew everything about the complexity.  It's possible that we might have adjusted the weightings for the project had we known everything we knew at the initial selection that we knew when we selected CanAtom, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now also in response to Mr. Stevenson's questions, he asked you about the termination of B&M and whether you believed that was a prudent act, and you said yes.  Is that fair?

MR. REINER:  Yes.  That's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in connection with that, when you said that, it made me think of what actually happened after that.   I don't think we'll get to it today, but part of the things that -- one of the things I want to talk about is what is highlighted in the auditor general's report, which is the engineering changes proposed by CanAtom back in 2015 relative to what B&M have reported.

And my understanding from the record is in 2017, OPG disputed CanAtom's changes to B&M's -- in fact defended B&M's original design.  Is that fair?

MR. REINER:  What OPG sought out at the time was to validate that there were no design issues or code-compliance issues related to the RCMT design, and OPG did validate that.  So it was a design that met the required codes and standards.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's contrary -- my understanding from the record is that's contrary to what you believe CanAtom has said.

MR. REINER:  CanAtom initially indicated that they believed there were compliance issues.  That came about because an American standard was utilized versus a Canadian standard for construction.  And so on the surface, that is a different code.

The reviews that were undertaken were done to establish technically at the detailed engineering level, does that constitute any differences in terms of the -- of the structure itself, and the integrity of the structure and its ability to withstand the seismic requirements and all the other design requirements.  And that analysis indicated that in fact the U.S. codes that were used are in many parts even more stringent than the Canadian codes and there was not an issue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So you're saying CanAtom said there was and you told them there wasn't?

MR. REINER:  That is correct.  That is what the independent third-party assessment of the designs concluded.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  As I said, I'm planning later on to revisit that, but I wanted to clear that up based on your answers to Mr. Stevenson.  So thank you for that.

Lastly, Mr. Stevenson referred to lessons learned and we were trying to figure out what reference he was using, since he didn't provide one.  My understanding is that he must be talking to Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 10, page 113, which is the second-last page of the main evidence on the D2O project which we provided at -- in its entirety, we provided it at tab 4 of the second volume of the K1.4 book, just so people have it handy if they want to look at it.  Is that where the lessons learned appear?  I have it up on my screen, but I can't show it to you.  I apologize.

If you go to K1.4 and you pull up page 370, it's right there.

MR. REINER:  Yes, you are correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That's a summary of lessons learned, and again this is something we were going to follow-up on later, but we might as well do it now since you just spoke about it.

At tab 21 of the K1.3 at -- give me a second -- page 449 of the book, and for the record this is Exhibit L, D2, O2, AMPCO 115, attachment 1, page 17 of 76.  And this  particular page is an incident investigation report delay in D2O storage project.

If you go to the bottom of the page under section 11, extent of cause, it says:

"The causes identified in this report and the lessons learned identified in the D2O storage and drum handling project modification planning lessons learned report", big long number, "are applicable to all refurbishment projects.  Reference, corrective actions for CC 5 and extent of cause in section 13-corrective action plan."


This suggests to us there is an actual lessons learned report that we don't have.  Is that correct?

MR. REINER:  Mr. Buonaguro, I can't comment on that.  But if there is a document that's referenced here that you don't have, then that would be correct.  But I don't know offhand what else is out there that we haven't already submitted in evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  There are quite a few documents and attachments filed.  Can you take an undertaking to either provide this document or confirm that it's already in the record?

MR. REINER:  Just so I know which document, that is the one D-LLD-38000-10001.  Is that the one you're referring to, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, that's the specific document we're looking at because of this site.  Plus, if there are other lessons-learned reports specific to D2O that haven't been named specifically here, then obviously we would want those, too.  But this is the one we know about.

MR. REINER:  We'll undertake to provide this specific one.  And there was -- in an interrogatory, there was a request made for all station condition records related to the D2O storage project.  Those station condition records, similar to this one, would contain lessons and actions and recommendations, so that -- and there is quite an exhaustive list that has been provided as part of that interrogatory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're saying the lessons learned as a topic would have shown up in a lot of other things in addition to this sort of report, specific report?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think we have an undertaking for the specific document.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It's J1.5.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE CITED LESSONS LEARNED DOCUMENT


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  With that, I'm going to go to what I was planning to start with.  Thank you very much.

First, I would like to get a little more information about our witness panel and specifically with respect to some dates.  If we can pull up tab 28 in K1.3, I'm looking at the table.  So this is -- sorry, this is Exhibit L, D2, O2, SEC 94, page 101.  And this table basically sets out all of the business case summaries for the D2O storage project from 2012 to the, I guess the initiating one, right through to 2018, the last one; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rose, I believe you're on mute.

MR. ROSE:  Thank you.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And it has all the dates, which is useful.  So -- and just going to the witness panel, and I should say that this is in connection with -- and I don't need you to turn to it, because we're going to talk about it later specifically, but in my mind, when I read through the Modus reports, these are the audit reports that were provided to OPG during the course of the DRP, and the ones that I'm interested in later are at tab 69 of K1.4.  But again, don't turn it up now.  But they generally refer to the D2O project as being under the rubric of the project and modifications group; is that right?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I notice that in your respective CVs and in describing your roles at OPG nobody mentioned that group specifically, so I wanted to know what connection, if any, or what relationship each of you has had with that group over the course of the D2O project.  I guess the easy one just to start with, Mr. Simpson, because I think you started the latest.  You said spring 2017.  Can you just confirm your relationship with that group at that time?

MR. SIMPSON:  So the projs and mods group at that time has the overall direction of the CMO group, which is our quality field engineering group, and that was part of the project that I had overall management of and I took over responsibility.  So my connection to the projs and mods team at that time is just the D2O project proper.  Does that answer your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, yes, I think so.  I had a little bit of trouble hearing you, so I'm just going to ask you to reconfirm.  So you were specifically in charge of the D2O project from the spring of 2017?  Through, I guess you call the projs and mods group, which I like better than P&M, but through that -- as part of that you were specifically in charge of the D2O project?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then Mr. Rose?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you could describe your specific relationship to the D2O project and either through or related to the P&M group over time?  I know you were at OPG throughout the period.  And you told us that you were specifically involved in the DRP, but I'm looking more specifically at the D2O project and the running of that project by the P&M group.

MR. ROSE:  I understand.  So I was accountable for the overall planning and project controls oversight of the Darlington refurbishment program, culminating with the release quality estimate that we did in 2015, as -- there were a number of projects that were funded by the Darlington refurbishment project program called campus plan projects, including the D2O.

Projects and modifications, due to their history in executing projects at OPG, were selected to execute those initial campus plan projects on behalf of the Darlington refurbishment program.  My role was one of oversight to understand the funding that was released to them and the funding requirements and the scheduling requirements in context of how that fit within the overall DRP-related cost and schedule of the entire program.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So does that mean -- and again, specific to this chart, does that mean that your interaction with them had been through your -- the presentation, I should say, of these business case summaries to you for example?

MR. ROSE:  Yes.  I would have had some interaction with the organization with respect to the Land Data Review Board, which is a process that oversees the business case preparation and the request for funding, so I would have interacted with the project at that time and ultimately represented what the project was asking for in context of what funds were released on the overall $12.8 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And lastly, Mr. Reiner?

MR. REINER:  Yes, so my relationship with projects and modifications, you can see in my CV there was a period where I carried the title of senior vice-president of nuclear projects.  In that time period I wasn't for the entire time period -- and I apologize.  I'm not going to be able to tell you precise dates, but the projects and modifications organization did report to me for a period of time around the 2015-2016 kind of time frame.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So around 2015 to 2016 you became directly connected to P&M, but not before that?

MR. REINER:  Not before that.  I mean, I had back -- right back to 2010 I had overall planning and execution accountability for the Darlington refurbishment program, so when it comes to budget the D2O storage project is part of the Darlington refurbishment project.  It's part of the overall 12.8-billion-dollar budget.  So I always had that from 2010 onwards, so I would have been a sponsor, if you will, when the organization didn't report to me.  So definitely would have been involved in oversight-related activities, but then in that 2015-2016 time period the organization reported directly to me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I assume -- and I think I've seen your name on some of these documents, at least, if not all of them -- you would have been presented these business case summaries for your approval, at least some of them?

MR. REINER:  Ones that have my signature would have been presented to me for approval, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fair enough.  And I'm assuming -- well, maybe I shouldn't assume.  I can ask you.  The 2015 time frame, when the P&M group became more directly connected to you, that coincides with the increased business case-related budget for the project of 110 million to 380 million, and I'm assuming that that's at least one of the factors for why you became more directly connected to the P&M group?

MR. REINER:  That wasn't necessarily a factor why I became more connected.  OPG was undergoing, as any company does, organizational changes.  It made some sense during that time period to combine all project work in nuclear under a single executive, and given the Darlington refurbishment program was the largest undertaking and most complex project undertaking, it made sense for me to be nominated as the person that would take that on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But wasn't it also around that time that the Modus reports came out that were -- if I can characterize it, they were critical of the P&M group, and the VP of the P&M group was removed from the position around that time, and there was an escalation of the price from 110 million to 381 million from a business case perspective, so that all coincided with your tighter connection to the P&M group, right?

MR. REINER:  Again, Mr. Buonaguro, that was not the event that had the projects and modifications group report to me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Okay.  So it's 2:58.  I think the Panel told me that they wanted to break at 3:00, so this would be a good time to break.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  We'll take a 15-minute break until 3:15.  Thanks very much.
--- Recess taken at 2:59 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:17 p.m.


MS. DUFF:  I just want to update, Mr. Buonaguro.  I think the Panel is thinking, given we're ahead of schedule, we're going to try to break at 4:30.  It's been a long day, and if there is a natural time in your cross-exam to break, let me know.  I'll leave that to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Not seeing Board members on the screen.  I don't know if we've started yet.

MS. DUFF:  We have.  I can see them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's okay.  I'll start, thank you.

One question specific to the video that had me thinking was, Mr. Simpson, you talked about all the tanks being connected to all of the units through the heavy water maintenance building.  Do you recall that from the video?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct, yes.  We're connected through the pipe chase.  There's 13 connections or so through to the TRF.  The TRF is then connected to the Darlington plant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Give me a little more detail on how that works.  The easiest way to do it would each unit would be a pipe from a tank direct to the unit, but that's not what you're talking about.  You're saying pipe to the TRF to the unit.  So is it to some sort of storage and then to the unit?  Or is it just direct piping?

I'm a little confused about what you mean how you're connected through the TRF.  If I can get some detail, that would be helpful.

MR. SIMPSON:  We're connected on the same header that connects the TRF link to each of the units.  So the water flow itself, whether it be moderator or PHD, is its own separate line and it is given access to the tanks in the basement of the D2O project.  Is that clear?

MR. REINER:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may just add a couple words to that.  The heavy water management building, which is adjacent to the D2O storage building, is already physically connected to Darlington units.  So there is heavy water flow back and forth between each unit and that facility.  That facility has some storage, as you've seen in our evidence, and the connection of the D2O storage project is through the pipe chase that Mr. Simpson talked about into the appropriate pipe work that integrates the D2O storage facility with the existing systems and connections to the units.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the D2O project utilizes the piping in the heavy water maintenance building to get direct access to the individual units, without having to stop at a tank in the heavy water maintenance building?

MR. REINER:  That is correct, and there may be some valving and alignment work that operators would need to do to establish that connection.  But that is correct and that is a key factor that weighed into the location of the D2O storage project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I wasn't sure what he meant by through, so I appreciate the explanation.

MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Buonaguro, maybe I can interrupt your flow and ask hopefully a minor question on the D2O project, and perhaps this is to you, Mr. Simpson.

You mentioned that the site has an uninterrupted power supply as well as a diesel generator.  UPS being part of the D2O specifically for the D2O, but the diesel generator, is that part of the station backup and is that part of --


MR. SIMPSON:  That's dedicated to this building alone.  The battery backups give us 40 minutes of power or so.  So during that 40 minutes, we have to start up the backup generator and that would keep the critical safety systems going in case of a loss of power.

MR. SARDANA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  So I want to start at a high level and ask you this.  So my understanding, and I think it's clear through most of the evidence that the D2O project is really the combination of what I'd call two different needs.  One is the need for what I refer to as the heavy water operations at Darlington, particularly in connection with the TRF.  And the other is very specific storage needs related to the Darlington refurbishment project.   Is that fair?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  Prior to the need for a D2O project, there was an operations project to add about 400 megagrams of D2O storage and the D2O project -- when the DRP decision to proceed with the refurbishment DRP, there was an assessment of the storage needs for the Darlington refurbishment program and the assessment concluded we needed 1700 megs of storage.  So the two needs were combined into a single integrated business case in 2012 for a total of 2100 megahertz.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I think it's 2100 metres cubed.

MR. ROSE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to ask you a question about that in a second.  Sometimes metres cubed and MGS is used interchangeably in the evidence, but we know they're slightly different measurements, is that right?

MR. ROSE:  In the case -- they are different measurements, that is correct, Mr. Buonaguro.  But in the case of water, they happen to be -- even though they're measuring different things, the amounts, the numbers happen to be the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to ask a question about that in a second.  But just going back to Mr. Rose's answer to me, you mentioned that once a decision to DRP happened, the storage requirements for the DRP were combined with the then ongoing business case for heavy water operation storage.  Can you tell me when that was?

MR. ROSE:  I believe our first business case where the two projects were combined was the full definition business case in June 2012.  Preceding that, there was some charters, project charters that were prepared, and they are in your compendium at tabs 57 and 58.  So tab 57 I believe is in 2010, where it's the first time that the project was looked at as an integrated project.  And in the charter, your tab 58, updated in 2011.  Both of those contemplated an integrated project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  Obviously I'm aware of the documents.  I'm looking at the more fund adjustment question because those are I assume documents that are product of the decision to go ahead with DRP and triggering DRP-related storage needs, and then looking at the storage needs in tandem.

I'm looking at it simpler.  For example, when did -- when did DRP become a reality for OPG in terms of now we have to start planning, for example?

MR. ROSE:  Late 2007 -- in 2006 the province instructed OPG to look at assessing the decision to continue the operation of both Pickering and Darlington.  Going back, I joined the project in 2008.

So in late 2007, we started assessing the Darlington decision.  In 2008-2009, we were into the initial planning, the scoping, understanding what it was going to take to refurbish the first unit as early as October 2015.  So 2008, 2009 and I know the charters here reference some assessments done, some Kinetrix reports done in the 2008-2009 time frame in the period we were doing a number of component assessments.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would it be fair to say that looking at DRP storage needs, whether it's alone or in tandem with the heavy water operations project, would have happened around 2008-2009 in tandem with the DRP planning?

MR. ROSE:  The organization was looking at D2O storage alone without DRP in the early 2000s, perhaps even before that.  We only started looking at it as a joint project in that 2008-2009 time frame.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  On that similar topic, my understanding is there was no -- there was never no -- there has never been a separate charter for DRP needs in the same way there is a separate charter that predated the combined project for heavy water storage needs.  So there is no project charter that says DRP storage needs without consideration of heavy water operations needs?

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  There was no project for DRP D2O storage needs on its own.  The only project we contemplated under DRP was the one we executed, which was a joint project.  So there was no charter for a standalone DRP related storage.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  I haven't seen one, so I assume it doesn't exist, but I'm going to ask you the question:  There's no -- I don't see any document that sets out what OPG believes a standalone storage solution for DRP would cost without considering heavy water operations improvements.

MR. ROSE:  There was a report, a Kinetrix report, I believe, that assessed conceptually what it would look like to do them as separate projects, ultimately with a recommendation that there were some economies of scale to do the two projects together.

So in that report there were, I guess, options assessed and a conclusion made to do them together.  Again, I think the recommendation was that a joint product would have a 10 to 15 percent savings over doing two projects independent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So there are numbers on the record already, but I don't know that is one that is.  So could you take an undertaking to identify the study that you're speaking about, whether it needs to be produced as part of your undertaking and whether you've just been citing the one that you're referring to.

MR. ROSE:  I can, and that undertaking will assess whether the report I'm referring to discussing is already in evidence, and if not we'll include it in evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J1.6.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO IDENTIFY THE STUDY MENTIONED, TO DETERMINE WHETHER IT NEEDS TO BE PRODUCED AS PART OF AN UNDERTAKING, AND TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE REFERRED TO STUDY IS THE ONE CITED.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this is where my measurement question comes in.  So at tab -- tab 3 of J1.3.  And if you go down to -- so this is -- sorry, this is Exhibit L, D2, 02, AMPCO 95, and I'm looking at the answer at part B.


The reason I'm looking at this is because it says here total volume of the PHT moderator systems of 1 unit is 845 MGS, or 761 metres cubed, which is why I wanted to make sure I understand the difference between MGS and metres cubed, because in terms of describing, for example, the DRP storage needs in various documents, it's always referred to in terms of metres cubed, and I think it's 1,700 metres cubed, for example, and there appears to be at least some difference in terms of converting MGS to metres cubed.  And if I convert 845 MGS to metres cubed at 761 I get a factor of 0.9, so I multiply MGS by -- number by .9 to get the metres cubed number?  Have I got all that right, or is this -- am I reading too much into this answer?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, the specific density of heavy water is slightly heavier than regular water.  I believe it's actually  closer to 1.1, so you're -- 1.09 I believe is what you said you used, so I think you're --


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I think that's to convert from metres cubed to MGS.  Like, if you tell me that I have 845 MGS of heavy water, that's the same as I had 761 metres cubed of D2O, so I take the MGS number and multiply it by .9 and I get 761.  And I think the 1.1 is the conversion the other way.

MR. SIMPSON:  Exactly.  Yes, you're correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I was right.  Math is good.  So thank you for that.

So that's one thing I wanted to confirm.  The other thing I wanted to confirm, now, you do have extensive evidence that provides an overview of what heavy water is, so I don't want to retread that.  I do want to confirm a couple things, though.  When you drain a unit for the purpose of DRP, you drain the primary heat, and now I've forgotten what T stands for.  The PHT?

MR. SIMPSON:  Transport --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Transport.  You drain the PHT, the primary heat transport, and you drain the moderator, and the two have -- the heavy water that's in those two units is not fundamentally different, except that one is titrated, has high levels of tritium, the moderator does, and the PHT would not, and therefore when -- sorry, and you said yes, so thank you.  And I have a profoundly hard time to say --


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Detritiate --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- detritiate -- so when I refer to detritiating something, I'm going to call it heavy water processing, okay, and I'm going to only refer to the TRF, not the -- not the facility's full name.

But when you drain it, the PHT water goes one place and you drain the moderator system into another place, and the reason you drain the moderator in a different place is because you want to run that through the TRF to bring down the tritium level; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  So two things, one of which is that the difference between PHT and moderator is also an isotopic property, the purity of which heavy water exists within the volume.  So for moderator, purity is a lot more than the PHT, 99.9 as compared to PHT is 99.1, so you want to keep the two volumes separated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  Part 2 of your answer -- I'm sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Go ahead, sorry.

MR. SIMPSON:  And part 2 is, yes, there is a tritium relationship as well, whereas the moderator is more so than the PHT.  So your statement there is also correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so when you drain the moderator I'm assuming that the moderator water becomes feed stop for the TRF?

MR. SIMPSON:  So, no, it gets stored in the moderator tanks, so there are seven tanks in the basement where they would be stored.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, then what do you use as feed stock for the TRF?

MR. SIMPSON:  It can be used as feed stop, but specifically relating to when we drain the moderator water, it would go into the moderator tanks in the basement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then would it not then go from the moderator tanks to the TRF storage?

MR. SIMPSON:  Eventually, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in theory you could if the moderator -- if the -- sorry, if the TRF-related tanks for feed stop are available, you could immediately take that water from the moderator of the unit and put it in as feed stop for the TRF?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, if I understand your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, no, that's it.  It's actually simple, I think.

Last question on this sort of thing.  My understanding is generally speaking D2O is interchangeable, and what I mean by that is, for example, when you receive Pickering water or Bruce water for feed stop for the TRF, you don't give them back exact same water, necessarily; you give them back product, whatever the source of the feed stop was for that product, you don't track it by molecule, as they say in the natural gas side of the regulatory framework; is that right?

MR. REINER:  That option, Mr. Buonaguro, exists.  It's not necessarily tracked by molecule.  What we do, we do track separately heavy water that comes from Pickering or Bruce or Darlington, not because of tritium concentrations in that water and potentially the isotopic that Mr. Simpson referred to, and part of the detritiation and purification of heavy water, there is a big plan underneath that that looks at sources of the water, factors in what the detritiation plan is, and then executes that plan.  But typically you would not just mix water together in a single tank, because that has some pretty detrimental consequences.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  Fair enough.  I wasn't suggesting that you necessarily mix the water.  What I'm saying is that they -- for example, Pickering would send you water for use as feed stop, and the water that got back may not be that water, that's all.  You would -- how you process it depends on what needs to be done to that water, but they're looking for a particular product back, and that's what you give them, whether it's the water they sent you or not.

MR. REINER:  And there may be in cases where, yes, that is true, because there are feed tanks in the TRF and in a detritiation process the Pickering water would get added to the appropriate tank, and there is a possibility that there may be water in that tank already.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  For the purposes of the D2O, my understanding is you reserved 800 metres cubed of storage for PHT water from the units and 700 metres cubed of D2O water from the moderators -- is that correct? -- which constitutes enough storage for two units simultaneously.

MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I want to look at tab 2 of K1.3.  This is Exhibit L, D2, O2 AMPCO 88.  And the chart 1 ostensibly shows the total PHT volume drained from Unit 2 and the moderator from Unit 2, and then the same for Unit 3 -- although I should say while we're here that under Unit 3 it says "pH bull drain start November 26, 2021."   Is that year incorrect?

MR. SIMPSON:  That is incorrect.  The year is 2020, so November 26, 2020.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I figure we should fix that while we're here.  I notice it says for total PHT volume drained, it's 425 metres cubed for both units 2 and 3, and identical moderator numbers for Unit 2 and 3.

But if we look at tab 6, so this is Exhibit L, D2, O2 AMPCO 126, this describes the draining of Unit 2, which we're going to get into a bit in terms of the unique solution.  But it shows that the water drained from Unit 2 was actually 364 MGs of primary heat transport heavy water, which if I translate to metres cubed is 328 metres cubed.  And for the moderator, it says 348 MGs, which is actually 306 metres cubed.

So those are certainly the primary heat transport water number is much lower than 425 in the previous interrogatory.  And if you look further at the 328 metres cubed of water drained from Unit 2 PHT, it's broken down into two numbers.  If you go to tab 67, so this is in K1.4 and page 578 of that book, so if you go to page 578 you can jump right to the cite.  This is in your main evidence, Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 10, attachment 5 which is a three page summary of how you handled the temporary storage at Unit 2.

And if you go down to look at the footnote, I believe it's the footnote on the next page -- there.  It says:

"About 100 MGs of PHT water was collected through additional draining through the header and vacuum drying.  Because of its low Curie count, this water was stored as downgraded D2O in the heavy water maintenance building."


Have I got it right the 364 MGs you referred to as being drained from Unit 2 is those two numbers?  It was 368 of -- it was 268 from the PHT on the main drain and then another 100 MGs through this heater -- header and vacuum drying process?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  There's a few things going on there.  With regards to the IR 88, AMPCO IR 88 that gave those volumes, those are hypothetical technical spec volumes.  So the delta between -- or the difference between what you saw with Unit 2 and the IR 88 is there is an element of downgraded, as you pointed out here, that gets dealt with through the downgrading and the clean-up systems, so it gets stored elsewhere.

The about 100 MGs that you see there in front of us as well also takes into consideration some volume of rinsing.  So there is some additional volumes that would be included into the process of drain.  So the drain, dry and rinse all needs to be taken into consideration.  And those volumes fluctuate from unit to unit, but for the most part, what you is see is correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me try to put that together so I understand it.  So you decide it's time to drain Unit 2.  In this particular case, you cleared space at the heavy water maintenance building storage tanks to accomplish that, correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the initial drain from Unit 2 is approximately 264 MGs of heavy water?  Is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'd have to go back to that amount.  Perhaps Mr. Reiner can speak to that.

MR. REINER:  Mr. Buonaguro, you have to take us back to that previous interrogatory.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  That was tab 6.

MR. REINER:  Yes, I believe it was 364 megagrams.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's what I'm confused about, because if you go back to Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 10, so 578 of book 2.  If you back up to the source of footnote number 2 it says:

"The heavy water maintenance building received about 264 MGs of PHT heavy water from the bulk drain."


And then footnote 2 explains where the other hundred comes from, and it comes from the header and vacuum dry, right?

MR. SIMPSON:  We would have to take an undertaking here to figure out why we're seeing two different numbers in two different locations.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I should tell you I'm happy to have you take the undertaking and figure it out.  I would say, though, that I don't see the two as being inconsistent.  It says -- this description of the storage, which is from your main evidence, says we drained a total of 364 or 264 came on the initial drain, and another hundred comes from the additional draining through the header and vacuum drying.  And interrogatory 126 says they temporarily stored 364 MGs of heavy water from the bulk drain, and later on it says approximately 305 was moved.

So I'm not sure that they're strictly inconsistent.  But if you need to take an undertaking to make yourselves comfortable that your main evidence is correct and it doesn't conflict with the interrogatory, I'm happy with that.

MR. SIMPSON:  I believe now that I have clarity with your question and comment there. I don't know if we need one now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let's stick with the main evidence, which says you drained 264 MGs.  I won't go through the torture of trying to convert back to make it relevant to the storage that you've reserved for DRP storage.  You drained 264.  That goes to the heavy water maintenance building.  Then later on you do header and vacuum drying, and that produces another 160 MGs of water.

Can you explain the timeline for that and how that happens, and how the water is collected and how it ends up stored as downgrade D2O?  What does that process look like?

MR. SIMPSON:  Very, very similar to the draining process that happens with the initial drain.  It's just that you do get some areas where the water is, say, stuck or in the low points of the pipe itself, other areas where we have to inject water, as I said, part of the flushing, so eventually it all gets to the TRF and D2O storage building.  So that process really is twofold:  the initial bulk drain, and then through the dry as well as the flushing process that adds an additional volume to the overall drainage that occurs as well.  That's why the numbers here are slightly different than what you saw in the theoretical IR 88.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'm just trying to understand the difference between the bulk drain and the header and vacuum drying, quote-unquote, related drain, because my understanding is that -- and maybe I'm oversimplifying it, but you turn the switch to do the bulk drain, you get 264 MGs of PHT heavy water all at once.  Can you tell me how long that takes, the main drain, the bulk drain?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know if Mr. Rose has that information in front of him with regards to that whole process, duration of the process.

MR. REINER:  Maybe, Mr. Buonaguro, before Mr. Rose chimes in, he is just going to take a look at the schedule and give you an indication of time, but -- so the calandria vessel is a low point in the moderator system.  It doesn't have a drain line on it or a drain plug on it.  By virtue of design of a reactor, because it provides a heat sink for the fuel, so the drain and even the bulk drain is done through a vacuum drying process.  You create a vacuum in the system, you know, there's pipe work that can be drained with pumps, but the bulk of the water comes out through a vacuum drying type process, where you create a vacuum, the vacuum lowers the boiling point of the water, the water essentially evaporates, is then condensed and then transferred to the storage facility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so how is it transferred to the storage facility?

MR. REINER:  It is transferred through, the vacuum dry system is essentially a piece of equipment that comes in on a skid, and it taps into the moderator pipe work.  And so it will tap into a pipe in the moderator system on the unit that connects to the TRF, so there is the path to the TRF and D2O storage.  The other end of that skid hooks up to another connection point that draws the vacuum inside the moderator system.

And so those two connection points and a series of valve operations give you that environment that you need.  You maintain a vacuum and evaporate the water, boil the water, essentially, inside the moderator, and then there is no vacuum, and the water gets condensed in the skid and returned through the pipe connection.

So there are -- there is pipe work that needs to be -- that needs to be opened up as part of connecting this piece of equipment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'll ask you first:  Is this whole system pre-connected into storage at the heavy water maintenance building, or is there in some sort of intermediate place that's collected and then brought to storage?

MR. REINER:  It is brought to storage through the existing connections of the units to the heavy water management building.  The heavy water management building physically is quite a distance away from the units.  This skid that I talked about is physically inside a room inside the reactor building, and that is where the access points are established to connect the condensation side of the vacuum drying system to the right pipe that then routes it, an existing pipe that routes back to the TRF and connects the drying -- the feed side of that skid to the right pipe that connects it to the unit and the moderator system on the unit.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So -- and throughout that, though, I'm looking for you to say the word and connects directly to a tank in the heavy water maintenance building, but I'm not hearing that.  Is that what happens, and you just haven't said the word, or it doesn't actually connect directly through this process to a tank, it connects to something else, and then you bring it to the tank?

MR. REINER:  There is a direct connection.  The connection -- so the tank in the D2O storage facility is connected to the tritium removal facility, and so there is a connection that is established there, and the pipe work that's utilized is pipe work that connects to existing systems to the tritium removal facility.  So there is an operations exercise to open the right valves and close the right valves and establish a path.  


And, yes, if what you're looking for, Mr. Buonaguro -- there is no -- there is no intermediary storage and then other transfer.  There is a connection through the pipe work that has been established to take the water and move it directly to storage tanks in the D2O storage facility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So thank you.  That helps.  I will say, though, that I had -- was originally asking about the PHT drain, and your answer consistently referred to the moderator drain, so I wanted to make sure that you weren't missing something, so is the process you just described exactly the same for the PHT and the moderator, or is there different considerations for the two of them?

MR. REINER:  The process is very, very similar for PHT and moderator.  In the case of PHT -- and please forgive me here.  I'm not -- I'm not the systems engineer for this, but I will try at a high level to describe it.  If you need more detail, we can undertake to provide that.  But for the primary heat transport system, similar.  The low point is 

-- are the fuel channels.  The bulk of the heavy water sits inside fuel channels.  The fuel channels are at sort of the same level as a Calandria, and we don't open fuel channels and drain them.  So it's a very similar type of system, again, a vacuum drying skid.  There is a certain amount of pipe work that can drain relatively quickly because of gravity and system configuration, but then there is a significant amount of the water that needs to be drained using this vacuum drying process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Did I just interrupt you?  I can't see you because of the exhibit on the screen.  So I apologize if I cut you off.

MR. REINER:  I was just going to add, Mr. Buonaguro, is just that again, similar to the connection to the moderator tanks, there is a valving operation that the operators would need to undertake to ensure that the right tank in the D2O storage facility is connected to the pipe work in the tritium removal facility that connects back to the unit that's being -- for which the heat transport water is being drained.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But just a clarification.  In the case of the example -- specific example we're talking about here, we're talking about the heavy water maintenance building, not the D2O storage facility.

MR. REINER:  Yes, and just for correction, so heavy water management building, we often interchangeably call that the tritium removal facility or heavy water management building.  There are actually two sets of systems inside that facility.  Tritium removal is part of it, but then the existing storage that is there that was utilized as the Unit 2 storage, that would be the heavy water management building part, so to speak, and that is distinctly separate from the D2O storage project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So in the case of the draining of Unit 2, since the D2O storage facility had not been completed, that process you're talking about is vacuuming, if I can use that verb, I think, the water from PHT and the moderator through the TRF to the heavy water management building?

MR. REINER:  Through -- let me make a slight correction.  It would actually be through the heavy water management building and then the TRF connects to the heavy water management building, as does the D20 storage facility.  It also connects to the heavy water management building.  We at times interchangeably call the heavy water management building the TRF.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  That's why I'm asking for the clarification.  So when you did Unit 2, you had the unit, you had the heavy water management building, and you had the TRF, right?

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the water went from -- in both cases, in both the PHT case and the moderator case, the water went from the unit to the heavy water management building, and then to the TRF?

MR. REINER:  So it would go to the heavy water management building.  The heavy water management building has storage in it, existing storage.  It would go to the TRF for detritiation purposes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So how long would that take?

MR. REINER:  What part, Mr. Buonaguro, if I may ask, how long?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, we're dealing with an actual example here in Unit 2, right?  So in Unit 2 in January of 2017, you drained 264 MG of PHT heavy water -- again, early January 2017.  You're telling me after that bulk drain, it went from the unit to the heavy water maintenance building  --I said maintenance but meant management, I apologize --then ran through the TRF to get -- and again I'm using the word processed, and I'm asking how long that processing took.

MR. REINER:  If I understand correctly, Mr. Buonaguro, it's that vacuum process that you're asking about?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you told me that after the vacuum process, after the water gets into the heavy water management building, you then immediately put it through the TRF.  That's what you told me, so I'm trying to get a handle on the whole process and how long each step of that process took.

I don't want to spend too much time on it.  We can probably do it by way of undertaking since we have the specific example in terms of Unit 2 of how this works.  In that case, the undertaking would be to describe the different stages and the length of the stages it took to take the heavy water from the PHT and the moderator from Unit 2 to the heavy water maintenance building and, if applicable, to the TRF in both cases.  And in the case of the PHT water, to go further and say you moved approximately 300 MGs of that water to Pickering and Bruce.


So I'm looking for -- you set out the process at a high level at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 10, attachment 5, and I'm looking for more detail in terms of the stages that you've been describing here and the timing of those stages, how long it took.

MR. REINER:  Okay.  I think I understand what you're asking for, Mr. Buonaguro.  May I just, for purposes of clarifying and narrowing this a little bit, can we disconnect the TRF?  I don't believe I said it goes directly to the TRF.  There is a connection between the TRF and the heavy water management building for purposes of detritiation.  Detritiation happens separately.  It is a separate process and it doesn't impact the draining of a unit.  And it happens around an operating schedule that's established for the TRF.  So it really doesn't impact the timelines at all.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can interrupt, because I'm interested.  In this particular case, I know from the evidence that initially 264 MGs of PHT heavy water went from a bulk drain into the heavy water maintenance building.  I know that it took about six weeks to move about 300 MGs of water into Pickering and Bruce for storage, and it's described how it was used those two units.

You seem to suggest that in between those two stages, the water went to the TRF.  You're saying it's not necessarily true to the process, but I actually want you to confirm whether that happened or not; and if it happened, how long it took before the water was then shipped to Bruce and Pickering.

MR. REINER:  That I can tell you, Mr. Buonaguro, that water that we're talking about did not go through the TRF.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Did that water go directly, then, to Bruce and Pickering?

MR. REINER:  The water that went to Bruce and Pickering is water that would have been stored in the heavy water management building before the drain occurred to make room for the drain.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, I appreciate that.  That sort of gets to why I asked about interchangeability.  When you talk about sending the water from Unit 2 to Pickering and Bruce, you didn't actually send the actual water.  You sent water -- you sent water already in the heavy water maintenance building to Pickering and Bruce, is that right?

MR. REINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That makes sense.  I'll tie that off.  I still want the undertaking in terms of length of time it took to drain through the bulk drain, so related to the 264 MGs of heavy water in the initial bulk drain, and then how long it took to vacuum up the rest of the 100 or so MGs that's referred to in footnote number 2 in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 10, attachment 5.

MR. REINER:  Yes, and we'll undertake to provide that.  And just so I understand exactly what we're providing, it's the actual duration and is it for heat transport or moderator or both?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to know the moderator, both as well. It doesn't talk about separating moderator water into a bulk drain and a secondary drain in the same way.  But from what you're telling me, it sounds like that happened.  It must have happened, because it's the same physics, as it were.  Is that right?

MR. REINER:  It is the same physics and the same equipment, essentially, the same type of equipment, the same process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, so I want the timing for everything.   It sounds like there's four stages to it.  There's bulk drain at PHT, there's sort of secondary drain of the header and vacuum -- sorry, the header and vacuum drying that is referred to at footnote number 2, and then the same thing for the moderator, there would have been initial bulk drain and how long did that take.  And you haven't split up the volumes for the moderator, so how much was involved in the first bulk drain and how much was cleaned up afterwards, and how long that took.

MR. REINER:  We'll undertake to give you the details of those durations.  With respect to moderator, offhand -- and we'll check this in the undertaking.  I can't tell you offhand what the clear transition point is when we get into sort of that drying process, when the bulk -- the bulk drain refers to the bulk of the fluids have been removed.  And then you get to a point where you're drying the system.  But we'll identify where that transition point would have occurred and what the volumes of associated water would be and what the timelines were for Unit 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J1.7. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF DURATIONS FOR THE STAGES OF WATER DRAINAGE FROM UNIT 2, INCLUDING THE TRANSITION POINT, AND THE VOLUMES OF ASSOCIATED WATER; AND TO PROVIDE THE EQUIVALENT NUMBERS FOR UNIT 3


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now in your answer to me, you -- well, I should say as part of that undertaking, it would be useful to have the equivalent numbers for Unit 3 understanding you only did PHT so far.  I don't have a schedule in front of me.  Is it a similar process in terms of a two-stage process with similar timelines?

I'm expecting it would be, and the only difference would be you would have slightly varying amounts from unit to unit, depending on how much of the technical maximum water levels you haven't met because I guess you lose some over time.

MR. REINER:  Yes, and there may be slight variations in piping configurations unit over unit that impact volumes.  So yes, we have that information for Unit 3 and both heat transport and moderator have already been drained on Unit 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, great.  I'm trying to remember if there is anything else that's related to this that I want, and I don't think so.

MR. REINER:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may, we'll get you the actual durations for the undertaking.  But there are -- in the DRP portion of the evidence, I'm not sure if you saw it, there are what we call level 1 execution schedules for the DRP that give you sort of an indicative time line of how long -- they identify the heat transport drain and moderator drain, and that schedule would give you what the plan duration was.  We will provide the actual.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that -- are you referring to the very colourful landscaped looking schedules with lines on them?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think, so if we go to tab number 5, I think that's where -- and the site there is -- this is the document that we created and sent out, and this is Exhibit K1.6 now.  I think you're talking about Exhibit D2, tab 2, Schedule 5, attachments 2 to 4?  Is that right?  Those are the -- I didn't include them here because they're really harder to read than this, but those are the -- that's the overall plan schedule for everything you're doing on each unit, right, those attachments?

MR. ROSE:  I believe that's the case for units 3, 1, and then, 4, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, yes.  So that's what you're referring me to, right?  So you're telling me -- if I look at that, and I can tell within, I think it's in increments of months, so I can sort of tell half a month or a month, how long something takes, and that's what you're telling me, but you're going to give me the actual dates for the Unit 2 and Unit 3 drains and fills as appropriate.

MR. REINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, I'm mixing up my cross a little bit, but since you got in it, you've mentioned it, somebody mentioned it.  When you talk about the volumes reserved for units -- for DRP drains, you have 800 for PHT drains, 700 for moderator drains, and then you talk about 200 metres cubed for decontamination.  Have I properly summarized that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Probably, to be more specific, downgraded, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Downgraded.  I used the word "decontamination" because I saw it in one of the project charters or the business cases, I can't recall which.  If you can -- if you want to properly characterize what that 200 metres cubed is and why it's included.  I know it's included in both business cases in the sense, the ones you've done with the TRP uses of that storage, you're going to use it for heavy water operations, correct?  That's what the business case is, I believe.

MR. REINER:  Yes, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, what I want to know, though, specifically is how it factors into the DRP portion of its use, so what do you need that 200 metres cubed for specific to the DRP?

MR. SIMPSON:  Can you repeat your specific question on that case?

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, yeah, the DRP storage requirements are generally referred to as 1,700 metres cubed, in sort of gross terms.  1,500 metres cubed for storing PHT moderator water and an additional 200 metres cubed, in some places it refers to as decontamination.  I think you refer to it as cleaning up.  So I just wanted a little more clarity about what you mean.  How is that 200 metres cubed used specifically for the DRP?

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.  So the bulk drain that Mr. Reiner described in detail goes specifically into the tanks 7, 4 for moderator and 8 for PHT drain overlap.  The downgraded tanks, there's a capacity for about 125 MGs in the basement D20 project that handles that aspect of which Mr. Reiner was talking about with the vac dry.  Any sort of product that comes out of that, any sort of product that mixes in with water, et cetera, where, as I said, the characteristics of the isotopic as well as the overall cleanup needs to happen, whereas there is an extra step because it's contaminated with additional water and hence downgraded, and the reasoning why it needs to go to the upgrade portion of the TRF before if can get stored away.
So that element equates to that 200 MGs that you were referring to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is that 200 MGs, is that 200 MGs of storage for stuff coming out of the units, or is it partly stuff going into the units for this purpose and then out?  So I think one of them is for clean and one of them is for dirty, as I understand it.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, so it first starts in the downgraded tanks.  It would then go to the TRF building and get upgraded with regards to the isotopic.  It would then go to the cleanup portion or it would be cleaned up and then it would come back to the cleanup tanks that you see in the basement of the D20 building.  So what you're looking at when you look at those tanks is a secondary and tertiary step in the whole process.

So you wouldn't send water directly to cleanup, for example.  It would go down to -- it would go to downgraded, and then get processed, come back after it's clean to the cleanup tanks, and then go back again for its final TRF treatment of detritiation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So how long does that process take for each -- I'm assuming you do it for each PHT and moderator as part of the DRP?

MR. SIMPSON:  So the PHT has a low enough tritium content that it's not required.  I believe it's hovering around the 1 curie or so, but for the moderator, that series of steps would be required.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you do it -- over the course of the entire DRP that's four times, and you would do that once each time you drain the moderator?

MR. REINER:  We're just going to caucus here for a second.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. REINER:  We're back, Mr. Buonaguro.  And if I may just ask to go off record for one second.  One of our team members just needs to take a two-minute break.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It doesn't -- I'm fine with it.  Just since we're already at 4:15, I'm wondering if the Board wants to -- well, I guess we should finish this off first, though, but I'm happy to break.

MR. REINER:  A two-minute break for one of our panellists.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure, subject to the Commissioners.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. REINER:  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  Just for clarification, I'll take us back a step or two and then we'll continue on with your question.

The downgraded follows multiple steps.  First of all, it goes to get chemically cleaned through charcoal filters, comes back; it's stored in the cleanup tanks, after which from the cleanup tanks goes to an upgrader, where the isotopic gets increased depending on the water we're talking about, the system we're talking about, then goes and gets then detritiated.

After it's detritiated, then it can end up in either a product tank in the basement of the D2O, or can end up in a PHT or a moderator storage tank.  And I believe your question was the durations of each of those steps.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I want to know how long it takes, sure.  I also, the question I left you with before we had the break was that happens four times, one for each moderator.

MR. SIMPSON:  When you say four times, one for each unit, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, yes, one for each moderator in each unit.  So it would have happened once for Unit 2, it would have -- or it did happen, I assume, for Unit 3 and it will happen again for Unit 1 and 4; correct?


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm trying to figure out how long that storage is being used during each of those four instances.

MR. REINER:  Mr. Buonaguro, I want to -- our apologies here.  I just want to make certain we're undertaking to provide the information that's useful information for you and stick to these downgraded tanks that you are speaking to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's specific to the fact that as part of the storage requirements for the DRP refurbishment, OPG put forward 1700 metres cubed total storage, and that 200 metres cubed of that storage relates to -- 


MR. REINER:  Downgraded --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?  Yes, downgraded water, if we use that as the short-form version of describing that storage.  And I want to know how that was used or how that's supposed to get used and how long it takes.

So far I know that it's used specifically for the moderator.  I know that it's used for taking the last bits of the water and processing it, and I want to know how long that takes.  And lastly, I want to know how that happened for Unit 2, since you didn't have that storage available.

MR. REINER:  I believe we understand what you're looking for.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Great.  Can we get an undertaking number for that?

MR. MILLAR:  It is J1.8. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO PROVIDE DURATIONS THAT STORAGE IS BEING USED DURING EACH OF THE TRANSFERS FROM EACH OF THE UNITS 1, 2, 3, AND 4


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it's 4:23.  I thought that might be a good time to break.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, Mr. Buonaguro.  We'll break for today and rejoin tomorrow at 9:30 with this panel.  Thank you to our court reporter, Ms. Ing, Ms. Lowrey, and we're sharing Lori Patchett's screen and she's doing a great job.  Everybody have a good night and we'll see you in the morning.  The hearing is adjourned.  
---  Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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